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Wednesday, December 14, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:01 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

Mr. Nettleton, any preliminary matters to discuss this morning before we get started?

MR. NETTLETON:  None arise, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right, that's great.  That's also a first.

Okay.  Mr. Janigan, you're up first this morning.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - FINANCE PANEL, resumed

Joel Jodoin,
Samir Chhelavda,
Keith McDonell,
Judy McKellar; Previously Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Panel, my name is Michael Janigan.  I am with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition, and I believe you have a compendium that -- which I believe the Board Panel should also have.

Would it be possible to have that marked as an exhibit?
MS. LEA:  K12.1.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  VECC compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.1:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR THE FINANCE PANEL.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I have a question that was left over from the previous panel concerning the capital additions variance account that they suggested that I put to you.  And material was in the compendium, but we can call it up.  It's probably the easiest thing.  First thing is Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 47, page 1.  It's AMPCO 47.

And in response to this interrogatory you show the variance between the approved and actual capital additions put in service.  Would the variances shown here in the total row add up to the balance of capital additions variance account?

MS. LEA:  Sorry, sir, I have been informed that the remote -- the on-air, is it working?

[Technical interruption]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Had to reboot, okay.  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. JANIGAN:  I will re-put that question.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The microphone is now off, Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  I will re-put that question.  And I am looking at AMPCO 47, where you show the variance between approved and actual capital additions put in-service.

And actually, I would like to also have you look at Exhibit I, tab 6, Schedule 64, which is School Energy Coalition's interrogatory 64.  And I'm -- in the total row of the AMPCO interrogatory, will the balance, the variances shown there, add up to the balance in the capital additions variance account of the 167.4 million shown in Schools 64?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Could we bring up the other interrogatory to the -- I think it was AMPCO 47.  So we are just looking at the numbers, so for 2014 the variance between the two IR responses is in agreement, I suspect for '15 and '16 as well.  So I think your question was if the variance between OEB-approved and actuals will equal what's in the variance account.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  It should only for the years '14, '15, and '16.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Yeah, that was essentially my question.

Now, if we look at the AMPCO interrogatory 47, it appears that you underspent in the first two years and then rather largely overspent in the last year, just before rates are calculated upon a new rate base.  Was this a coincidence or was this something that was planned?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Unfortunately I believe that was a question that was best posed to the execution panel.  We are not able to answer that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, let me ask you another question then.  Did the presence of the capital additions variance account result in a more favourable situation for the company, from a monetary standpoint?  If you didn't -- that's opposed to if you didn't have it.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  I am sorry, I am not quite sure I understand the question.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, without the capital additions variance account would you have been better off or worse off?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Without the in-service -- umm...

MR. JANIGAN:  Did you make or lose money because of the capital additions variance account, in other words.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So my understanding of the variance account is it's asymmetrical, it only works one way, so to the extent that we do not spend to the Board-approved levels then we would calculate the revenue requirement of the underspend and put it into the variance account to give back to customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  I agree, but the pattern of spending here in this particular circumstance, if you had that same pattern of spending without the capital assets -- additions variance account, would the situation have been better or worse for the company?

MR. JODOIN:  So with or without the variance account the approval that we had received in that specific application doesn't change, so the rates would have been set in the same way.

MR. JANIGAN:  So there would have been no monetary difference between the position of the company with or without this account?

MR. JODOIN:  In the approved test years; that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, can I ask what is the point of the capital additions variance account if you only have two years capital additions forecast?  Is it material in a two-year rate plan?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Perhaps I can answer that question in a different way.  I mean, the presence of the in-service variance account, I mean, it ensures that the company will hit our in-service targets over a two-year period.  So in terms of whether or not it's materially impact -- I'm not quite sure I --


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, it's only a two-year plan.  I mean, this is a circumstance where, you know, it's meant to allow you some flexibility over a period of time to put capital additions in accordance with reasonable project limitations.  If you only have two years is this really necessary?  Is it material?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Well, we do feel it is necessary, because, I mean, a lot of our transmission projects, you know, they -- very different from distribution projects, in the sense that they are of longer duration, so I think a two-year -- over a two-year period I think it is meaningful.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could now in the compendium turn up page 3, please.  And this is in response to the London Property Management Association interrogatory 6, Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 6, and this table shows your OM&A with and without capitalization.  And I take it that by capitalization, that is primarily or exclusively talking about labour costs that are capitalized rather than expensed; am I correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So it is primarily labour and overhead.  So it's not specifically just labour.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And we have reductions to OM&A in the test year related to Bruce to Milton and pension adjustments.  Are those adjustments expected past 2018?

MR. JODOIN:  So I can help with the Bruce to Milton adjustments.  I believe I mentioned this earlier in the proceeding.  When we originally filed our application, we inadvertently included some costs associated with the Bruce to Milton line that should have been outside of this application.

So as part of the blue page updates, we reduced the OM&A asks for those applicable costs.  With that being said, in future applications those costs will not even roll into the test years as part of the transmission-based application.  So they won't show up at all, but the costs will still exist, just reallocated to the other affiliate.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  How about the other pension adjustments?  Will they appear in future years?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So for the pension adjustments, we had an actual revaluation conducted in 2016 and it was for a three-year period.  So it covers '16, '17 and '18, at which point there presumably will be another revaluation.  So it will depend on what's going to be filed for '19.

MR. JANIGAN:  I take it you don't know.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Well, correct.  The adjustment is there because when we filed, we had one set of costs and then the revaluation provided another revised cost.

MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.  But you don't know whether or not there will be adjustments in future years?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Well, specifically for this line item, what gave rise to the adjustment is the fact that when we filed, we subsequently had an actual valuation done which reduced the cost.  So that's why we have that adjustment.

So going forward, if the -- if a pension revaluation is done in advance or prior to filing, you wouldn't expect to see that adjustment.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the reason I asked that is that looking at your OM&A on a precapitalized basis and removing the one-time adjustments, OM&A is only really decreasing marginally.  Wouldn't you agree?

MR. JODOIN:  OM&A is decreasing, I would agree with that.

MR. JANIGAN:  And when you take away those adjustments, it's decreasing only marginally.  Wouldn't you agree with that?

MR. JODOIN:  OM&A is decreasing.  Embedded in this application, we have summarized numerous productivity savings that are contributing also to the decrease in OM&A, as well as the pension revaluation that my colleague just mentioned that was a result of accelerating the pension revaluation.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if we look at LPMA 6 once again at page 3, it appears as if the capitalization difference between 2015 and 2018 is about 17.8 million.  Would you agree with that?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  I mean, subject to check, I will accept your number.  But I would like to draw attention to Exhibit B1, schedule 3 -- sorry, tab 3, schedule 10, which talks about our overhead capitalization rates.  And as you can see, from 2015 we are at 15 percent and in 2018 --


MR. NETTLETON:  Just wait, Mr. Chhelavda, let's get this exhibit up on the screen.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Okay, yes.  My apologies.  So as you can see, in our test years of 2017 and 2018, the amount of overhead being capitalized is actually decreasing.  So in 2016, it was approximately 15 percent and in '18 it's going down to 12 percent.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, if you look at page 4 of my compendium, it looks like there is a slight decrease in FTEs over the 2015 to 2018 period.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I would agree there is a decrease in our regular head count.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  However, if you look at the tables in your evidence on pages 6 and 7 of the evidence, there appears to be a bit of a hiring increase between 2015 and 2016, that the total employees increase from 7,283 and on page 6 to 7,489 on page 7.  Am I correct on that?

MR. McDONELL:  What you are seeing there is reflective of an increase in our non-regular employees.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  Could be our construction employees which are not regular, or our hiring hall employees as well.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But it does reflect an increase in the number of employee, is that correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Number of employees, but a much more flexible workforce, a lot more friendly compensation workforce.  They don't join or pension or benefits, and there's lot of flexibility by using those type of resources.

MR. JANIGAN:  I see the total spent on labour costs is rising over the 2015 to 2018 period; am I correct on that?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, well, a couple things.  I think what we are seeing -- total wages have increased from 2013 to 2018 about 1.05 percent each year, so fairly nominal.  But you also might recall that we have an undertaking to look at this entire payroll table to provide some more data.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the increase is all in casual labour, by the looks of things.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the regular employee count is falling from 5,220 in 2015 to 5,042, whereas the temporary unionized and casual labour is increasing from 2,063 in 2015 and 2,447 in 2018 -- if that math is correct adding up the total temporary and casual lines.

MR. McDONELL:  Again, reflective of our use of more non-regular employees, which does provide us some savings in terms of compensation, but also increased flexibility.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now on page 8 of my compendium, am I reading this correctly that the change in increase in casual labour is due to changes in your capital program?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, that's true.

MR. JANIGAN:  So if we know that the difference in capitalization between 2015 and 2018 is just under 18 million, but the difference between those years for casual and temporary labour is about 32 million, looking at the total wage column of the temporary and casual, not quite that number, why -- if the casual and temporary increase is related to capital, why is the increase in costs for labour related to capital not increasing at the same rate as the capitalization amount?

MR. JODOIN:  I think there might be a little bit of confusion on the term capitalization versus how the interrogatory was responded on page 8 of your compendium.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. JODOIN:  The capitalization that was outlined in I-4-6, which was, I believe, page 3 of your compendium.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. JODOIN:  That doesn't necessarily relate to the capital work program, that's the capitalization of corporate overheads.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, wait a minute.  I thought your first answer was to me that it involved labour and some overhead, and now you are saying it is involving all overheads?  When we were looking at the capitalization figure on page 3 you were saying that that basically is labour, and you agreed with me, yeah, but there is some overheads thrown in there.  Now you are saying it's all overhead?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  No, so I guess we can clarify, what is in the overhead, it is labour, but it is non-direct labour, so these are the support function.  So if you are seeing an increase in temporary and casual, that's the direct labour component.  You would not see that in the overhead.

MR. JANIGAN:  You wouldn't see any of the temporary and casual labour capitalized.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  It would be capitalized, but not through overhead.  It would be direct cost capitalized to projects.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that wouldn't show up in your adjustment here to OM&A; is that correct?  You are saying that the 17.8 --


MR. CHHELAVDA:  So you are correct.  You wouldn't see it in that adjustment, because you would see those costs charged directly to project work.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So if I take the average base pay that you have for the casual and temporary labour, and it ranges from 29,000 to 61.7, so I take it by the numbers it would be weighted towards 61,000 because that's by far the largest number of employees; am I correct?

MR. McDONELL:  I think you're -- I am not sure what you are looking at in the -- I think you are looking at the payroll table at 2018.  I think you are just simply looking at the average base pay of the three types of temporary employees and the casual, and I think you are making the point it ranges from 29,000 to 36,000 -- or 61,000.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.  It's on page 6 and 7 of my compendium --


MR. McDONELL:  Yeah.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- sorry, I should have given that.  And so I take it that the average would be weighted more towards 61,000, just given the number of employees?

MR. McDONELL:  Yeah, I think it probably would reflect more towards the casual, just because in any given year we are going to have more casual employees during the year. The temp category, PWU, Society, MCP, they might be around for short periods of time in the year.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And does this reflect the strategy to replace or manage retirements with more casual and temporary labour?

MR. McDONELL:  No, I don't think it reflects a strategy, necessarily, to replace regular employees with more casual employees.  I think what you are seeing is an increase in our capital work program and on the transmission side that tends to be more of our construction employees, which are the casual category.

MR. JANIGAN:  Um-hmm, okay.

MR. McDONELL:  But anytime we do have a retirement we are going to take an opportunity to look at the best way to resource that attrition, and in some cases it may be that we would hire a temporary employee.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I just notice that the difference between capital and casual temporary labour costs over the 2015-2018 period is approximately 14 million, and you divide that by, let's say the 60,000 that you are paying casual and temporary employees.  That's about 233 employees that would be accounted in that number.  It just looks like -- that your forecasted retirements and your strategy to increase the casual and labour costs seem to be coincident; am I wrong on that?  Or am I using an incorrect calculation?

MR. McDONELL:  We don't think your comparison is right, but could I ask you just to repeat that?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, the difference in capital versus the amount of increase in casual labour costs seems to account for or would account for an increase of about 230 employees, which seems to be close to the number that you're forecasting for retirement.

Is there any connection between those two numbers?  If there isn't, you can tell me.

MR. JODOIN:  Let's just be clear.  When you say "capitalization", you are again referring to page 3 of your compendium?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. JODOIN:  No correlation.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up page 15 of my compendium, and when you were last in front of the Board it dealt with the sale of Brampton Hydro, and I note in response to Board Staff Interrogatory 7 on page 15 that it would appear that in 2015 Brampton Hydro paid you $490,000 for services.  Am I correct on that, just looking at the sum total?

MR. JODOIN:  Yup, seems right to me.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, have your costs been reduced now that you no longer provide any services to Hydro One Brampton?

MR. JODOIN:  So the nature of the costs that were provided to Brampton -- and actually, you can see that some were still provided in 2016 through the affiliate service level agreements that we have here -- were corporate in nature, so financial services would be an example of support.

So to answer your question, no, the overall costs for the company have not decreased as a result.  Those services now are being -- or I guess the time used are being used to utilize other work.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  Now, if you look on page 12 of my compendium, does this include any fees paid by Brampton in 2015 and 2016?

MR. JODOIN:  So what this table would represent is the total costs for each group.  So this table would not have
-- it does not have netted out the costs that would have been allocated over to Brampton.  So these are the costs of the specific employees for each group.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the revenue would be shown somewhere else; is that what you are saying?  From Brampton?  The fees?

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, so you can actually see in the far two right corners there's a -- or, sorry, columns there is the TX allocation, so there is an allocation process that would specifically allocate out to each of the affiliates the appropriate costs.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, now, in that table, table 1, it shows that the corporate costs have increased from 183.6 million to 207.3 million in 2016.  How much, if any, of that $23.7 million increase is due to the removal of Brampton Hydro from the pool of cost sharers?

MR. JODOIN:  So a couple points.  None of that would be reduced -- I think I just mentioned that these are the total costs for the company as a whole.  The allocation process are not broken out into the columns that you have referenced and with that being said, the subtotals in this table are actually not necessarily calculating properly.

And what I mean by that is you will note on the value growth corporate donations and investor relations lines, those are shareholder only costs that were previously not included in 2015 and prior.  But when you refer to the 207.3, that sum is still including those costs.

So the only point I am making is the jump from '15 to '16 is an apples to oranges, and in order to properly compare, you would have to reduce the 207.3 by the value growth corporate donations and investor relations.

MR. JANIGAN:  Let me simplify my question here.  The removal of Brampton Hydro from the corporate structure of Hydro One has, to your knowledge, no cost consequence other than the removal of the shared services revenues of 490,000; is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  The resources are deployed to do other work.  So specific to Brampton?  No, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you.  I wonder if I could ask you to turn to page 24 of my compendium -- sorry, 22 of my compendium.

I understand that you did a new lead-lag study for working capital; the previous study was reviewed by Navigant in 2010.  Was that the last time the old study's result was reviewed?  What about the last Board application?  What did you do for working capital?

MR. JODOIN:  So this study is refreshed with every rate application, including distribution.  But the transmission-specific study, the last time we would have undertook to review that study would have been for the 2015-'16 test years.

MR. JANIGAN:  So you used the Navigant study in 2010 for working capital in the last case?

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, I believe we outline specifically when the last one was used, but I believe it would have been after that.  Let me -- if you can bear with me for one second?

Sorry, I do see the confusion here.  I believe there was a 2014 study.  I think the wording in this -- on page 22 of your compendium should have reflected that.  But I see that it doesn't, so I do understand your confusion.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And you used the results of that study for the 2014 application?

MR. JODOIN:  Not the 2010 study, no.  There would have been a 2014 review that would have fed the '15, '16 test years.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you used that 2014 review?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.  Sorry, to be clear, in the '15, '16 application.  We've refreshed that for this current application.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now the new study; on page 22, it indicates that the new study proposed a result of 3.4 percent of OM&A in controllable expenses, is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  The new study shows that approximately the network cash working capital requirement for the '17 test year is approximately 3.4 percent of OM&A expense.  I can confirm that, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And what was the result of the previous review in terms of percentage of OM&A?

MR. JODOIN:  This is actually outlined in the study.  So perhaps we could pull that up; it might be easiest to review that table.  It's Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 4, attachment 1, and you can find this in the conclusions section on page 16.

So actually I think this should provide some clarity to our initial exchange about the timing of the studies as well.  You can see there is a 2014 study that fed the 2015 and '16 application, thereby reviewing table 14.  And also included there is the same -- the equivalent percentage of OM&A for the equivalent study.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So it shows that in -- the 2014 study produced results of 2.81 percent and 2.27 percent as the percentage of OM&A, and that has gone up in the 2016 study of 3.44 and 3.69 percent.

MR. JODOIN:  I can confirm that.  And actually, when we received the study, we did an impact assessment on that increase and as it relates to revenue requirement as a whole, and I believe the result was approximately 400,000 increase to revenue requirement as a result of moving to the new 2016 study for each test year.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you very much.  Now on page 24 of my compendium, you were asked a number of questions on LPMA, the changes to the study.  And later in response to Board Staff 141, which is on page 24, you indicated in the response:
"The primary factor of this increase is due to the inclusion of a significant prepayment of utility income tax in the first half of the year, which was not captured in the previous study.  The prepayment of utility income tax is based on predictions of net income in which it was deemed, and in the current study, the prepayment accurately reflects the timing of the utility income tax payment."

Can you explain what you mean by this?

MR. JODOIN:  I can, if you just bear with me for one second.

So in general, what the lead-lag study attempts to do is compare -- in this case, we are talking about tax expenses or tax payments, so we will focus on that -- is compare when the payments are made relative to the service time of the associated cost.

In the prior study, what actually happened was there was -- I guess we'll call it a true-up, if you will, for the prior years tax expense.  So what that means is -- actually the specific year was the 2011 service year, and what happened was there was a true-up tax payment that occurred in 2012; I believe it was February of 2012.

So what happens when that true-up payment is made is the study will show that the payment occurred after the service time.  Therefore, there was a net lead, or we received services and paid the expense after.  Therefore, the working capital requirement specific to that is lower.

What happened in the current study and the 2014 year itself, as this study is based on 2014 actuals, essentially the tax instalments for the 2014 year more appropriately reflected the forecast for net income in that year.  So what that means is in the service period of 2014, the monthly tax payment reflected a close-to-real estimate of what the actual tax expense was for year-end of that year.

Therefore, in the following year, a true-up payment was not required.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the tax was paid earlier than later?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.  Which results in an increase of working capital requirement.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, I think I understand that.  On page 36 of my compendium, it shows that -- in relation to OM&A that you were substantially under your approved OM&A in 2014, and in 2015 you were a little overspent.

Was the 2015 overspending related to the 2014 underspending?

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, what page are you on?  I believe you referenced 2014, but I don't see that in --


MR. JANIGAN:  Page 36.

MR. JODOIN:  Okay, I see 2015 comparisons.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the 2014 numbers, I don't know if they have been included in my compendium or not.  I apologize for that.

MR. JODOIN:  It's okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  But what I believe they show is that there was a substantial underspending of your approved OM&A.

MR. THOMPSON:  Page 38.

MR. JANIGAN:  Ah, thanks.

MR. JODOIN:  Okay, if you could just bear with me for one second while I pull up the data.

Okay, sorry, if you don't mind, if you could just repeat your question one more time.

MR. JANIGAN:  No problem.  In 2014 you were substantially under your approved OM&A by something more than 10 percent, and in 2015 you were a little overspent, about 2 percent.

Was the 2015 overspending related to the 2014 underspending?

MR. JODOIN:  I don't think I am the one in the best position to answer that question, as a lot of the OM&A specifics relate to sustainment development operations, which would have been addressed in a prior panel.

With that being said, it's important to consider each year also independently, because there are items that impact certain years and not others.

One item I can talk about was 2014.  There were insurance proceeds received in that year related to a prior year, so in 2013 I believe it was -- I'd have to check -- it was an issue at one of the stations, but insurance proceeds were received in 2014, thus lowering the actual expenditures.

So that is one of the reasons why the actuals came in under the OEB-approved levels relating to a prior-year issue.  But subject to your question about 2014 to 2015, I don't think this panel's in the best position to answer that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, it would appear that my -- on page 37, that your projection by the end of the year, you thought you were going to be 4.6 million underspent.  Is that what that is showing on page 37?

MR. JODOIN:  So I believe this came up towards the end of the day on Monday with Ms. Girvan -- in an exchange with Ms. Girvan and myself.  I can confirm that these are the figures that we put into the filing and what we are expecting.

With that being said, we did respond to an OEB Staff IR.  It was I-1-1-09, and you don't have to pull it up, but essentially what that IR identified was the pension revaluation savings in 2016 that were not reflected in this table that would also lower the 2016 amount.

So I just want to make sure there is an apples-to-apples comparison, and perhaps my colleague can explain the impact of the pension revaluation on these numbers.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Right.  And so as Mr. Jodoin has mentioned, the pension revaluation, so any differences from our forecasted expense to actual goes into the variance account, which will then be given back to customers at a future date.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So your answer to that, I believe, a Staff interrogatory, that contains your projection of where the OM&A is likely to be based on where we are now in the second or third week of December?  Is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  The best information we have at this time is as filed evidence, which includes the pre-filed evidence and including the OEB interrogatory that we brought forward.

MR. JANIGAN:  That will give me what your projected total OM&A budget is as of this date?

MR. JODOIN:  I will maintain consistency with my prior answer.

MR. JANIGAN:  Does your prior answer mean that I can use that interrogatory plus these projected figures and arrive at what you believe your projected OM&A will be as of this date?

MR. JODOIN:  It's our understanding that it's materially consistent.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And what is that figure; do you know that?  What your projected OM&A is as of this date?

MR. JODOIN:  Well, I think it would be just -- sorry, I don't have the math with me right here, but it would just be simply taking the projected numbers in page 37 of your compendium --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. JODOIN:  -- and including the response to Interrogatory I 1-1-09.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's the only change?

MR. JODOIN:  There were some costs that we brought forward at the technical conference related to some new positions that we didn't have at the time of this filing that would slightly change the allocation factor to transmission, but materially consistent still.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, it might be easier just for me to ask you to undertake to provide me with that figure as of this date.  Can you do that?

MR. JODOIN:  I guess I am not really sure the value of doing that when we have provided the evidence in the pre-filed and in the interrogatory.  I apologize, I just don't see the value.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think what Mr. Janigan is after, Mr. Jodoin, is the -- if he does the math and puts that forward, is he going to receive a response to that that is different because of other factors that he is not aware of at this point?

MR. JANIGAN:  That is why I would like you to do the math and give me the exact figure rather than put it in my hands.

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, we can do that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you.

MS. LEA:  J12.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.1:  TO PROVIDE THE FIGURE OF PROJECTED OM&A AS OF THIS DATE.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, panel, thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are all my questions for this panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Ms. Grice.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Yes, thank you, good morning.  Shelly Grice, representing AMPCO.  I just have a few follow-up questions to start with that were carry-overs from my discussion with the execution panel regarding overtime.

So if we can turn up Undertaking J9.7, and this is the updated version that was filed on December 9th.  Thank you.

And what was asked in this undertaking was to get the overtime -- the actual overtime hours paid 2010 to 2016 that were transmission-related only, and the response says:

"The table below shows the actual overtime hours incurred by Hydro One over the period 2010 to 2016.  Because the overtime premium varies between 1.5 to two times base wage rate, determining the actual overtime dollars paid by Hydro One would require a review of all individual time sheets submitted during this period."

And I just want to stop there, because I understood that in a discussion that took place on Day 3 with Ms. Blanchard, one of your witnesses, Mr. Buckstaff, indicated that 100 percent of overtime was paid at double time.  So I am just not clear on response when it says that the overtime varies between those two base wage rates, and how that impacted this response.

MR. McDONELL:  Thank you for that, and that actually give us an opportunity to make a small correction from what the Navigant witness said.

That, in fact, is not true.  We do not automatically pay double time for overtime for our casual employees, and I think there was some reference about working four, five, ten shifts, so then-hour shifts.  Any overtime after the ten hours, the first two hours are paid at time and a half, and after two hours, it's double time.

And I believe there was some confusion.  One of the Board members, I think, was asking about that.  So it is not true that it's double time for all overtime.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Now, you've said here that you applied TX to DX ratio of total overtime hours to come up with the portion for transmission.  Can you tell me what ratio you used?

MR. McDONELL:  It's approximately 40-60; 40 percent transmission, 60 percent distribution.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then with the execution panel, we had asked for some undertakings regarding what your budgeted overtime was for transmission during this time frame, and there was some discussion about me having to follow-up on that with this panel.

So I just wanted to check in on those undertakings and just confirm that data is available regarding budgeted overtime for transmission.

MR. McDONELL:  We are still working on that particular undertaking, and I think part of the explanation was that it is a little bit -- the data is not readily available because the overtime is built into the standard labour rate.  So we are presently looking at a way to sort of tease out that.  So we will continue working on that later on today.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.  And if we can turn to AMPCO interrogatory 67, please?

In this interrogatory, AMPCO asked a question regarding Hydro One's vacancy rate, and I understand you had -- there was an exchange with Mr. Rubenstein on Friday regarding vacancies, and I understand Hydro One does not use vacancy rate as a metric.

But I just wanted to follow-up on sort of what we were thinking about regarding vacancies, and our thought was that it's logical to assume that Hydro One will have vacancy savings because turnover occurs and it takes time to hire replacements.

So we were looking at this in more of a sense of whether or not you have vacancy savings in a year, and then how you account for that in your budgeting process.

MR. McDONELL:  I guess a couple points.  It is true, though, we do not use that particular metric by and large because it does -- we do not have a great deal of difficulty in filling many of our vacancies.  So this metric is probably more relevant for organizations that have a fair bit of lag time between filling vacancies.

But I'd also say that where we do have any sort of attrition and we are in the middle of a recruit to replace that person or persons, we would most likely hire temporary employees to fill the gap.  So we are spending money on that particular resource while we are recruiting for a permanent backfill.

MS. McKELLAR:  May I add something to that as well? Because some of our positions are critical, we actually predict -- we do retirement probability analyses and what we to is we pre-hire, if you will.

So if you look at the OGCC for example, we will actually pre-hire in anticipation of losing certain people.  So there are times in the year when we actually have additional bodies in anticipation of a vacancy, and there are costs associated with that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So do you have situations that occur where you have positions open for two months or longer in a given year?  Does that situation occur?

MS. McKELLAR:  We may.  But in addition to that, we often will have to use overtime.  Depending on what the role is, we either bring in, as my colleague said, a temp to do that.  We step somebody up and there is additional cost in stepping up someone to a higher rated job while we fill it, or we may have to use a current staffer overtime.

So it doesn't mean it is necessarily -- a two-month vacancy is necessarily a savings in our bottom lime.

MS. GRICE:  That's not a number we track at all, vacancy savings?

MS. McKELLAR:  We don't currently, no.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Now, are you able to, just at a high level, provide us with what your key HR metrics are?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's an excellent question, and one of the things that we are working on for this year is actually updating our entire SAP system to develop better metrics for human resources.

In the past, we have had a somewhat antiquated performance measurement system as it relates to human resources, and that's one of our big IT projects for this year.

MS. GRICE:  But are there any -- are you tracking, you know, attrition rates, external hire rates, sick leave, those sorts of metrics?

MS. McKELLAR:  Absolutely.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  If we can turn to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 41, I just had a couple of questions regarding brush control and line clearing.

On the record, I understand that you have unit metrics that you are tracking the data for regarding brush control and line clearing.  And my understanding brush control, the unit is number of hectares cleared, and for line clearing, it's kilometre line cleared.

I believe in the evidence on the record we have dollars per hectare budgeted and forecast for both of those things, but I don't think the accomplishment level has been provided on the record compared to what you budgeted for those two the activities.

I just wondered if you could correct me if I am wrong.  So what I am looking for is how many hectares of brush control that you budgeted you were going to do in 2012 versus what was the accomplishment.

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, I am not sure that question is for this panel.  It probably would have been better for the planning panel.  I realize the planning panel is not here, so we could try and provide that for you through way of an undertaking if we have it.  I don't know if we have it.

MS. GRICE:  That would be great.  I just thought it would be another way of adding a dimension to the unit metric to understand what the budgeted versus actual accomplishments were for 2012 to 2016, and then what's planned for 2017 and 2018.

MR. JODOIN:  We can undertake to do that, certainly.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you.

MS. LEA:  J12.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.2:  to advise the number of hectares of brush control budgeted versus achieved in 2012

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you, and I just have one area left.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Ms. Grice.

MS. GRICE:  If we can please go to Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 10, page 2?  So in this table, it shows the overhead capitalization rates for 2017 and 2018 of 13 percent and 12 percent.

And I just wanted to confirm that the overhead capitalization rates have been calculated consistent with the previously accepted Black & Veatch study methodology.  Can you please confirm that?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  I can confirm that.  That is correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  And then if we can go to VECC compendium, page 3, please.  This was an interrogatory that Mr. Janigan took us to this morning.  And what it shows is the capitalization amount.


And I just wanted to follow up and ask if that line, the capitalization line, if it includes, for example, a line crew or other operations, permanent FTEs who do capital work in a year, are those amounts captured in that line?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  No.  They are not.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  So often when we look at compensation tables we ask the percentage of compensation that's allocated to OM&A and the percentage that's allocated to capital.  Is that something that you can provide when you complete those compensation tables?


MR. McDONELL:  So you are asking us to add that to the undertaking for the revised payroll table --


MS. GRICE:  Yes, two --


MR. McDONELL:  -- to break it out between OM&A and capital?


MS. GRICE:  Just two extra lines at the bottom of the table, if you could do that.


MR. McDONELL:  For each year?


MS. GRICE:  For each year.  For transmission.


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, we can do this.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, great, thank you.


MS. LEA:  And that's go going to be part of 12.2 or do you want a new number?


MR. McDONELL:  I believe it's 10.2.


MS. LEA:  Oh, okay, sorry, thank you.  I am getting too many undertakings, thanks.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And just one last follow-up question with Mr. Janigan.  When you were talking about 2016 OM&A final numbers and you said you didn't think they would be materially different, what do you mean by "materially" when you are saying that?


MR. JODOIN:  The understanding -- and I believe this was quoted at the technical conference as well -- it's around 3 million, the threshold for materiality.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  And I think Ms. Lea was correct.  I think it is J12.2 which was the last undertaking, so it would be 12.2, unless you are going back a couple days.


MR. JODOIN:  So there were -- sorry --


MS. LEA:  I think that was the confusion, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So it's one from a couple days ago?


MR. JODOIN:  Yeah, that's been -- it's been building.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So it's part of Undertaking 10.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. 10.2 (SUPPLEMENTAL):  FOR THE TRANSMISSION COMPENSATION TABLES, TO BREAK DOWN THE percentAGE OF COMPENSATION ALLOCATED TO OM&A AND TO CAPITAL


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Still --


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- a work in progress.  Understood now.  Okay.  Thank you.  Now I am on the right page.


Okay, thank you, Ms. Grice.


Okay, Mr. Brett, you are up next, and no undue pressure, but we are on schedule right now.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  I understand, and I'll be on schedule too.  I have a compendium here.  I will just send it up.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


[Off-record discussion as documents are distributed.]


MR. BRETT:  Yes, good morning, panel, my name is Tom Brett.  I represent the Building Owners and Managers Association, and --


MS. LEA:  And shall we give this compendium an exhibit number for reference, Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That would be K12.2, BOMA compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.2:  BOMA cross-examination COMPENDIUM for the finance panel.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I sent a copy of this around earlier when we thought we would get to this panel earlier, but in any event it's very short.  It consists of pieces from the evidence.


I'd just like to start with a couple of basic questions, panel.  You have been on a cost-of-service -- a two-year cost-of-service plan in 2014 -- '15 -- rather, 2015 and '16, and then also going back to 2013 and '14, right?


MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And then you are proposing another two-year cost-of-service plan for two -- '17 and '18; right?


MR. JODOIN:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And were you on cost-of-service plans prior to 2012, for example 2010, 2011?


MR. JODOIN:  I believe 2011 and '12 was also a two-year cost-of-service.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. JODOIN:  Prior to that I'd have to check.


MR. BRETT:  That's fine, that's enough.  So I will ask you -- I am going to try to avoid -- or rather take account of the fact that a number of the questions I was proposing to get into have been dealt with by others, but I want you to, if you could, turn up page 6 of my compendium.  It's -- I think it's an exhibit that you have discussed, it's from your evidence, and it is a -- it's pages 6 and 7.  And really what it is is a comparison of OM&A expense by major category, historic, bridge, and test years; right?  Do we have that?  Yeah.


MR. JODOIN:  I do have that, and if you don't mind, I believe at the time this was prepared there was a subsequent update for refined pension costs on the '17 and '18 years.


MR. BRETT:  Right, that's fine, I can deal with that offline.


MR. JODOIN:  Sure.


MR. BRETT:  I understand that and I heard the conversation earlier today, but thank you.


What I want to just -- and I don't want to get into the detail of this to any degree, but I simply want to ask you to confirm that over the period 2012 to 2015, that if my arithmetic is reasonably correct that your O&A (sic) spend over that four-year period was 103.6 million less than your approved spend; is that correct, subject to check?


MR. JODOIN:  I will accept that math, but I would disagree on the premise.  I think it's important to consider the details of --


MR. BRETT:  All right.


MR. JODOIN:  -- that overage.


MR. BRETT:  All right, well, I -- you had considered those with Ms. Girvan in detail, so I am not going to question you about all of the different items.  But I would ask, just to finish off the numbers part of this, in 2016, the bridge year, you had approved -- and I realize this may have changed subject with your update on pension and credit, and we can build -- I can build that in, but for the bridge year, according to this table, you had forecast 436.8 for 2016; right?  Actually, this table says 432.1.  That was your approved OM&A -- sorry, your approved for 436.8; is that right, for two-16?


MR. JODOIN:  I believe that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And your forecast actual is 432.1; right?  Is that in the ballpark?


MR. JODOIN:  Correct.  I know you mentioned the undertaking that we are going to do to adjust that number for the pension revaluation, and again, it's important to consider that pension revaluation will be returned to customers to the regulatory account, as my colleague mentioned earlier.


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I understand that.  And the -- now, according to your third-quarter report, Hydro One Limited's third-quarter report -- and I am at page 6 of your nine months' -- three and nine months' report dated September 30th, 2000 and -- well, dated September 30th.


You have listed here transmission spending of 289 million as of the nine months ending September 30th; is that --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that something we should all be looking at, Mr. Brett?  I don't know if we have a reference to that.


MR. BRETT:  Yes, sorry, I'm looking at the -- it's not in the compendium, it's from the nine month report of Ontario Hydro, which is filed on November the 7th, and it's a public document that -- I mean, if they want to -- perhaps you could take --


MR. QUESNELLE:   Is it in evidence, Mr. Brett, that we could have an exhibit number so it can be pulled up?

MR. BRETT:  It wouldn't be in prefiled because the prefile was in May, they filed it in May.  This just came out on November 7th, so.

MR. QUESNELLE:   If you could just wait until -- so we can all see what you are referring to here, I just wanted to have the ability to have it pulled up.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  It's not in the compendium; it's simply the corporate third-quarter report.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Mr. Nettleton, do you recall how we referenced this?

MR. NETTLETON:  I don't believe it's in the evidence, sir.

MR. BRETT:  It couldn't be in the evidence, because it just came out.  It came out on the 7th of November.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Sorry, Mr. Brett, I misunderstood you. I thought you said it was filed, but you mean issued, not filed with us, I take it.

MR. BRETT:  Perhaps I could just ask for them to confirm it with an undertaking.  If it's not the right number, they could provide that.  I am reading it from the report here.

MR. QUESNELLE:   I think they'll have difficulty doing that without knowing exactly what you are looking at.

MR. NETTLETON:  If you just give us a minute.  I don't believe -- Mr. Brett confirmed that it wasn't included in the compendium.  We are doing our best to find and use technology to find the report on SEDAR.  And if you give us just a minute, we will get that.

MR. QUESNELLE:   That might easiest, Mr. Brett.  I recognize you are wanting to move swiftly here, but that might save us the time of getting an undertaking or having them do it off line, so it's fine to wait.

MR. BRETT:  The number was 239 -- 289 that I have here and I had -- basically, what I had calculated is if the expenditure, the OM&A, continued for the last quarter -- I realize it might not, but for the last quarter at the rate that it's gone up the first 3 quarters. that the overall spend, actual spend in 2016 would be 385 million.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  So we have that on the record, but let's just get it pulled up here.

MR. BRETT:  That's just my calculation, so perhaps the Undertaking --


MR. QUESNELLE:   Here we are.  Okay, Mr. Brett, if you could.

MR. BRETT:  No, sorry, there is no -- I simply took the 389 number --


MR. QUESNELLE:   We just need to get to the page, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  All right, there it is.  289, there it is.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  So now the witness panel has it before them as well, and perhaps you could restate your question.

MR. BRETT:  Maybe I could just ask the panel would you just confirm -- if you look at that number as the OM&A at the end of third quarter, would you -- and you project that forward at the same rate of spend, unless you're planning to increase your spend substantially, if you project that forward, you get a number of 385 for the full year.  Is that -- will take my math, subject to check?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  My understanding is you are doing simple straight-line proration.

MR. BRETT:  That's correct.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  If that's how you do the math, yes, you would get 385.  But our costs generally don't -- we don't incur costs on a straight line basis.  So there is also timing differences and other things that haven't been considered.

MR. BRETT:  Do you have a projection of your own for year and at this stage, of actual OM&A?  We are now at December 15th.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Is this a line that Mr. Janigan took you on earlier?  Is there any difference between this line of questions and what you responded to Mr. Janigan, in your mind?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I think this question is a little bit more precise, and the ask seems to be a request for forward-looking information, namely what has not been disclosed publicly and in fact a projection of what numbers would be for the purpose of the final quarter of the year.

Hydro One cannot provide that type of information obviously, given the sensitivities of that.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Understood, Mr. Nettleton.  I am asking why is this different than what Mr. Janigan -- I am trying to determine what the difference is between what Mr. Janigan received a response from in his questions earlier. If there is a difference, fine, but I am not seeing one.  We have an answer on the record.

MR. NETTLETON:  I believe the answer was it wasn't going to be materially different.  That is what I remember.

MR. QUESNELLE:   And if that's the answer.  What I am trying to do is not get two answers the to the same question in a short period of time here.

So if that's the answer, then that's the answer.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I missed that comment. I must have been -- I was listening, but I must have missed it.

So effectively, the answer there was that your estimate hasn't changed for 2000 --


MR. QUESNELLE:   I think you will have to take a look back, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Your forecast number that is in the evidence for 2016 has not changed?

MR. JODOIN:  I don't mind reiterating the response that we gave confirmed.  When you factor in what our prefiled evidence contained, coupled with the response to OEB Staff I-1-109, which included the pension revaluation and Bruce to Milton updates, coupled with the costs that we brought forward at the technical conference related to new positions, and there is an undertaking to bring all this together on one page for ease of reference.

MR. BRETT:  That's fine then, thanks.

MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  That's fine.

MS. LEA:  Just before we leave this document, does it need to be -- as we have now referred to it, does it need to be an exhibit in this case?

MR. QUESNELLE:   I don't know that it does.  It brought you to a line of questions, and I think the answer is going to be an undertaking, unless somebody has an interest in this.  Mr. Nettleton, I don't what your thoughts are.  Do you plan on using it again, Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  No.

MR. QUESNELLE:   If it's not brought on to the record for any use --


MR. BRETT:  Maybe it's -- if the undertaking is --


MR. QUESNELLE:   The undertaking won't be relying on this document and you're --


MR. BRETT:  No, I understand that, okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay, thank you.

MR. BRETT:  I simply wanted to -- I guess I didn't hear all of the response to Mr. Janigan, and what I was simply trying to get at, and I think I now will have an answer, is what the likely year-end cost OM&A will be.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Then just proceeding, now I want to deal -- you did deal, yesterday or last week, with Ms. Girvan on the issue of the EB-2014-0140, which incorporated the $20 million reduction, so I won't get into that.

You would agree -- would you agree with me, without going into the details of all of these numbers and all these categories, effectively there were -- at a high Level, there were differences in most of the numbers.  If I had a matrix in my head of all of these numbers, I would -- which I have to a degree.  I looked at all of them and my general question to you is: in about 90 percent of these cases, the actual spend on the item in a year is slightly under, is under the forecast.

Would you agree with that as a general proposition?  I mean, I don't really want to take you through a hundred numbers.

MR. JODOIN:  To be honest, I have made it clear that I disagree with the approach in looking in aggregate.  Do I agree with the premise that you bring forward an aggregate level?  Yes, I see the numbers.

But for example, in 2013, there was a property tax rebate of approximately $40 million that was used as a credit.  So until you actually understand what's embedded within the numbers, I think it's inappropriate to look at it from an aggregate total to draw any sort of conclusion.

MR. BRETT:  All right, okay.  I understand that and I have actually the property tax refund and your other big refund, the insurance proceeds on the flooding of your west end stations, on my list of questions.

And I am not -- actually, I thought my question was helpful to you in a way.  I was suggesting that for the most part if we looked at each of these areas, with a couple of notable exceptions, which I will touch on, the spending was less than forecast in the years in question and the items in question.

Do you agree with that?  Never mind the -- just as a matter of fact?

MR. JODOIN:  I agree.  I agree.

MR. BRETT:  All right, so then the -- I want to talk a little bit about the capitalization issue, and you've discussed that with Mr. Janigan this morning.  I would like you to turn up just for a moment page 7 of my compendium -- well, that's the same table we were looking at, C2, tab 2, schedule 1.  And if you look at the bottom of that -- let's just see here.  No, page 7 is -- that's not my page 7, actually.  What I am looking for is the second page of C2, tab 2, schedule 1.


So what you have got there is the -- you have got it now, that's fine.  So it's -- if you look at the line "total OM&A and common corporate costs and other costs", the line just above that, "other", so the question you were discussing earlier was you were asked about the increase in the "other" -- and "other" -- these are negative numbers on the "other", so you agree with me these are credits, these are items that reduce the OM&A; correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And so these credits that reduce the OM&A increase substantially in 2017 and 2018 relative to what they were in 2016; right?  Rough number is 19 million, 19-and-a-half million?  Right?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So I believe you're --


MR. BRETT:  All I am asking you so far is to tell me if you agree that it shows a -- roughly a $20 million increase in each of those two years, over the years.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Right, and, you know, earlier we did point to our pre-filed evidence, Schedule -- or, sorry, B1, tab 3, schedule 10, which talked about our overhead capitalization rates, so --


MR. BRETT:  Right.  No, I understand that, I heard that.  I would like to refer you to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 24, if you could just turn that up.  That's not in the compendium.  Do you have it?

MR. NETTLETON:  We are just getting it, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Fine.  So it's C1, tab 3, schedule 3.  And if you look at that table there, table 12, you will see that the other -- and I am looking -- this gives you the other for the test years; correct?  The 149.7 and the 148.5, those are the same numbers as I just referred you to in the table.

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And if you look -- that table shows you that the bulk of it, almost all that, you'd agree with me that the bulk of that is the capitalized overhead; right?

MR. JODOIN:  I agree, yes.

MR. BRETT:  There are two other smaller items which I know about which I don't think we need to talk about, but I do want to talk briefly about the capitalized overhead.

Now, if you look down below at your text in 3.1, I can summarize -- I'd like to summarize it for you and ask you about it this way.

As I understand it, your capitalized overhead has gone up by roughly 20 million, and the reason it has gone up is that it -- is that you have increased your capital expenditure in those years over the bridge year and the previous years; is that correct?  In other words, I understand you said your rate went down by a percentage, but I also understand that the way this capitalization of overhead is calculated is on a ratio basis that was developed by a consultant for you sometime back; right?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So, yes, that is --


MR. BRETT:  So in other words, if you have a dollar more capital expenditure, your capitalization of overhead is going to go up by X cents?  Right?  Is that correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So if you hold everything constant, if you do have an increase in capital work, yes, more dollars will be --


MR. BRETT:  Right.  More capital work, more capitalized overhead.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Brett, if you can just wait until we get the complete answer.  I am sure it's difficult for the court reporter to track you both at the same time.

MR. BRETT:  So I have that correct, basically?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  And so it's -- if I can put it this way, it's -- and you touched on this with Ms. Girvan the other day, but it's a deemed number, it's a number calculated as a result of a ratio that you apply; right?  As opposed to, for example, looking at each type of capital expenditure and saying, well, the overhead on this should be 6 percent, the overhead on this should be 8 percent, the overhead on this -- it's not that way, it's a deemed single number based on a ratio that the consultants, Black & Veatch, calculated for you; right?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So it's actually based on the Black & Veatch methodology which was used in previous rate applications, so it's based on a methodology.  So the methodology will then derive a rate that will be applied to all capital work.

MR. BRETT:  Right, and you haven't changed that methodology recently.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  No, we have not.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, that's fine.

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, if I could just add -- I apologize for jumping in here.  You mentioned at the beginning of your line of questioning that the increase was 20 million.  Can I ask where you are referring -- where you --


MR. BRETT:  Well --


MR. JODOIN:  -- came up with that 20 million?

MR. BRETT:  I am looking at -- I didn't say 20.  I think I said 19 --


MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  And what I was looking at was -- and this may be -- I was looking at your C2, T -- C2, tab 2, schedule 1, which is page 7 of my compendium, and in any event it's your evidence.  And it says -- that table says -- shows "other" as 149.7 in 2017 against 129.6 in 2016.  Now, that includes these other two items.  It's not all -- if this is what you are driving at, it's not all overhead capitalization, but let's say the number is -- it's slightly less than that to account for the fact that "other" is not 100 percent overhead capitalization, right?

MR. JODOIN:  Sure.  So -- and we can be quite clear we responded in Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 4 with the specific overhead capitalization components, and the increase is roughly 11 million associated just with that.  So I just want to be clear that it's not 20 related to the capitalization.  I just think it's important to --


MR. BRETT:  The balance says -- so the 149 is not the correct number?  Is not the total number?  Or is -- you changed the 149 somehow?

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, if we could go to Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 4, that will outline specifically what the capitalization component is.

MR. BRETT:  Wait.  This is pension costs you're talking about.  I am not talking about pension costs.  I am talking about overhead.

MR. NETTLETON:  Just let him get the right exhibit up, please.

MR. BRETT:  Well --


MR. JODOIN:  No, sorry, Part A of that question reads:

"Please provide separately the overheads capitalized for 2012 to 2021."

It's overheads capitalization.  So for 2017 and 2018 the 133 million and 135 million ties to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 24 --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. JODOIN:  -- the overhead capitalization row that you brought us to.  And I just want to make sure that when you referred to the 20 million that everyone is aware that the 20 million is not just overhead capitalization, there are other numbers rolled into that.

MR. BRETT:  I understand.  I --


MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  -- apologize.

MR. JODOIN:  No, that's okay.

MR. BRETT:  I take your correction.  So you are really comparing -- all right.  Well, the next question is what was the capitalized overhead then in 2016?

MR. JODOIN:  It's responded in this interrogatory.  122 million.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  So the comparison you are saying is 133.2 with 122; is that right?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Mr. Brett, just for the record, I just want to note that we have had page 6 of your compendium up on the screen and being referenced.  I think you referred to it as page 7 a couple of times.

MR. BRETT:  I just want to make sure.  Let me check this here; I may have mislabelled this or something.  Yes,  page 6 is the correct page.  Sorry about that.

Now, you did have a couple of items in where in a couple of items in your OM&A in -- your forecast OM&A in 2017, which were substantial increases from 2016, right?  I am thinking -- I am looking particularly here at the -- no, let's let that go.  We can talk about that -- it's just a factual question.  I think I should move on.

I'd like you to then turn up, if you could, another IR here, which is another -- well, it's in my compendium.  It's BOMA 1-3-30, which is -- okay, this should be page 7 of the compendium.  Can you turn that up?

Okay, this is a slightly different topic, but it's a related topic.  You have shown here the ROEs, the return on equity that Hydro One has earned a since 2012, correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  And in each case the -- in 2012, '13, '14, you're between 3 and 4 percent, or a little over 4 percent above the allowed rate of return.  In 2015, you are 1.63 above the allowed rate of return.

Do you have, at this stage, any notion of what your rate of return will be in 2016, or is that something you can speak to?

MR. JODOIN:  I believe this was part of a -- apologies if my terminology is not correct, but a motion that came from the Board in which we provided actual Q3 results for the ROE.

MR. BRETT:  For 2016?

MR. JODOIN:  Actually, I believe it was Q3 results that we provided, and we will not be providing a forecast for the year end.

MR. BRETT:   I think I can understand that, all right.  So then the -- we asked you basically how is it that you managed to earn -- being on cost of service over the last several years, how did you manage to earn rates of return of that magnitude consistently.

And you answered -- you had three answers, and I want to ask you about each of the answers.

The first answer was that in each of 2012, '14, favourable weather resulted in attaining a higher than planned peak demand, and thus greater than expected revenues.

Do you have or have you -- I'd like to understand a little bit more about this.  You have a summer peaking utility, correct?

 Well, actually, excuse me.  What I really want to understand is how do you compute the role of weather.  You have obviously some idea of a long-term weather average to use in making your revenue forecast, correct?

MR. JODOIN:  I think this question would be better served for the load forecasting panel, which is right after us.  It's probably more appropriate to ask that there, and more efficient.

MR. BRETT:  Well, okay.  The only point is, what I am looking for ultimately here, and I will just sort of get to it in a moment, I am looking for you to break down -- and I think you are the people to do this, because you are the financial panel.  If you don't know cost of capital and ROEs, then I don't know who does.

So I what I am looking for you to do is to break down the impacts, the relative drivers of these excesses over the allowed rate of return.  So weather is one of them.  Now I take your point about the particulars of the weather forecast, but I would like -- let's assume that, you know, the -- well, let me carry on with the remainder of my questions and I will come back to this issue of the weighted -- the impact of these various factors, because I think the other parts of my question you can answer.

The second answer you gave me is that, and I am quoting here from my IR:
"In addition, over the course of 2012-2014, cumulative in-service additions were less than planned.  This resulted in lower depreciation expense in rate base, which respectively affect the numerator and the denominator of the calculation of the ROE."

Would you agree with me, though, that that does not necessarily result directionally in a higher ROE?  In other words, you are affecting both the numerator and denominator in some manner: that I think is fair.  But that doesn't necessarily lead you to a higher ROE, correct?

MR. JODOIN:  That's not correct.

MR. BRETT:  Well, then I would like you as -- I would like you to explain exactly what you mean by that phrase, by that sentence.

MR. JODOIN:  Sure.  So the calculation here, we are talking about essentially regulatory income over the equity component of rate base.  So to the extent you are looking at depreciation expense that is less than anticipated, it would drive an increase to regulatory income and thereby increasing the ROE.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, that's what I am trying to say.  That is what I asked.  So you are agreeing with me?

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, maybe I didn't hear you properly.

MR. BRETT:  I was putting together the two comments that you --


MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, there are two parts to this; I am not finished.

So the second part is lowering in-service additions would result in a lower rate base, and when that translates to the equity component of rate base, it is now lower, which contributes to the denominator in this calculation, thereby increasing the ROE.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  So you are saying to me that it does result in an increase in the ROE?

MR. JODOIN:  The response provided in the interrogatory is correct.

MR. BRETT:  Well, the response doesn't really say that.  The response simply says -- well, I am not going the argue about the response.  But what I am going to ask you to do is to provide, as part of this undertaking, a calculation that actually puts numbers in to that formula that you have just described to us, because it's a bit complicated for most people.  At least for me, it's a bit complicated and I think it probably would be helpful to have a calculation of to what extent what you've just told me -- to what extent the fact and the extent to which cumulative in-service additions are less than planned, to what extent and how and by how much did that affect the ROE in these years, okay?

MR. JODOIN:  So essentially you are --


MR. BRETT:  I would like an undertaking to that affect.

MR. JODOIN:  You are asking for a detailed breakdown of the variance row in each of those years?

MR. BRETT:  Yeah, that's right.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I am not sure how helpful that that type of work product is going to be.  I am also mindful of the fact that Mr. Brett has said he is also going to be asking for some undertaking related to weather and the impact that weather has had on ROE calculations, almost like a normalized weather ROE.  I am mindful of how that is not Hydro One's evidence.  I am mindful that if Mr. Brett wants to come up with a weather-normalized ROE, that's for something for his client to do, not us.

But back to this issue of, you know, explaining the variance in the context of an in-service variance account, the evidence on the record explains the operation of the in-service variance account.  It explains that over a two-year period there will be an a reconciliation, and that's to the benefit of ratepayers.

I am not sure what and how helpful the undertaking that Mr. Brett has asked is going to inform this Board with respect to this issue.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Brett, would it be of use to you to have the answer that's given in the interrogatory, lines 18 to 22, broken down into numbers, separation between the weather component of this and the subsequent -- or the second issue, and just at high levels, the separation between the weather impact versus the reduced -- or less than planned in-service additions, and the breakout that you just described, basically, Mr. Jodoin.  Can that be done?  You have explained it verbally as to what the two components are, and we have numbers across the variance lines of 2.99, 4.29, and 3.79, which are the ones that are subject to the over 200.  I think that it would suffice, Mr. Brett, to have just those three years broken down into the contributing percentages to the variance.

MR. JODOIN:  I think that can be done.  My reservation -- and I don't want to speak out of turn -- is with the next panel and what data they have available to provide, but to the extent that I can --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I am trying to separate out the -- I take it the next panel as a forecast panel will deal with forecast matters, but this is a breakdown of the actuals, so the contributing components I think in a historic fashion, I think that likely you have the ability to do that.

MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  That will be J12.3, and perhaps breakdown of actuals is the best way to describe that undertaking?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, into the two categories that were provided in the interrogatory response.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.3:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF ACTUALS INTO THE TWO CATEGORIES THAT WERE PROVIDED IN THE INTERROGATORY RESPONSE.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  And I just have one other -- well, it's still on this same area, but it's just a couple more questions that I think are more straight -- maybe -- well, they are quite -- I think they are quite straightforward.

You went on in the next paragraph to talk about -- you say:

"Specific to 2013, lower OMA (sic) was mainly a result of the company recognizing a one-time property-tax rebate."

Now, you may have spoken to Mr. Janigan about this or you may have spoken to him about the insurance proceeds, which is what I am going to ask you about as well. 


So just dealing with the one-time tax property rebate (sic) for a moment, what was the amount of that rebate?  Can you tell us that?  And perhaps how did it arise?  Did it have to do with property tax?  Well, it has to do with property tax, I apologize.  What was the amount and when did you receive it?

MR. JODOIN:  The amount was around 40 million.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. JODOIN:  The receipt would be consistent with 2013.  So basically it would have rolled into 2013 as a credit.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  So it would have been shown as a credit against OM&A in 2013?

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And would you have forecast that in 2013 rates?

MR. JODOIN:  That would not have been forecasted in 2013 rates.

MR. BRETT:  Would not have been forecast.  And the reason it would not have been forecast is that -- let me step back half a step.

How did the refund arise?  You had overpaid tax in a previous year; is that -- or there was...

MR. JODOIN:  So I am not in the best position to -- that question probably would have been better suited for a prior panel.  I know that the range of date for the, we will call it revaluation, was between 1999 and I believe 2012, but the details behind why that came up, I don't have that with me right now --


MR. BRETT:  Well, are you speaking of the revaluation made as a result of the company becoming a public company?  Is that part of that revaluation?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  No.

MR. BRETT:  No.  That's a straight reassessment revaluation, and you are somehow persuading the authorities that you're entitled to -- that you should have paid less tax and getting a refund for it.  Is that the idea, broadly speaking?

MR. JODOIN:  I don't think I could actually agree with that without knowing the details, and I mentioned I don't have those details with me right now.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then the other -- the last piece of your evidence was that you said that -- and this is your evidence.  It's the reply to my question -- you say for 2014 lower OMA was associated with receipt of insurance proceeds for the 2013 flooding at Richview TS and Manby TS, and how much was the amount of the insurance proceeds?

MR. JODOIN:  It was around 10 million.

MR. BRETT:  And it was paid at some point in 2014?

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  So it was a credit to the OM&A in 2014?

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And did you forecast that in 2014 rates?

MR. JODOIN:  That would not have been available at the time we prepared the application, so, no, we did not forecast that.

MR. BRETT:  Well, sorry, I didn't quite get that.  You mean when you filed this -- we are talking about something that happened back in 2000 -- a couple years ago.  Is this something -- did you say when you prepared this application you wouldn't have known whether you forecast getting that insurance proceed in 2014?

MR. JODOIN:  Sorry, when we prepared the 2017/'18 application are you asking me?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. JODOIN:  Yes, it was actuals.  We did know.  I am missing the connection point here.

MR. BRETT:  I am perhaps not putting my question properly.  No, the actuals you had and you have talked about.  My question was, when you -- when Hydro put together its last rate proposal, the 2014 proposal, for 2015 and '16, I guess it would be the second -- it would be the EB-2010-00 -- I am sorry, I apologize.  When you put -- did you incorporate -- you said you got these insurance proceeds in 2014.  When you prepared -- when Hydro prepared its rate application for the year 2014, which would have also, I guess, been the year 2013, '13 and '14, right?

MR. JODOIN:  That application would have been a two-year application for 2013 and '14, likely would have been derived in -- I don't have the exact date, but 2012, early 2012.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So you wouldn't have had the accident at that point.

MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.  We would not have planned for the flooding.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brett.  Any redirect, Mr. Nettleton?  Oh, I am sorry, I had been told
-- Mr. Ferguson, you don't have any questions, do you?

MR. FERGUSON:  That's correct.  We have no questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay, thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Nettleton, we have a couple questions from the panel.
Questions by the Board:

MR. THOMPSON:  Just on Mr. Brett's last line on these numbers, is there in evidence what the revenue requirement amount is that equates to 100 basis points of ROE on the rate base of 10.5 billion?

MR. JODOIN:  We don't have that in evidence.  Essentially, the calculation would just be taking the --exactly as you say, the rate base multiplied by the variance, and that would derive the revenue requirement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could I ask you to undertake to provide the calculation for 100-basis points on the rate base.  Assume it's 10.5 billion; it's a little less than what you are asking for.


MR. JODOIN:  I could leverage the rate base we have in the application, if that's easier.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.


MS. LEA:  So there is an undertaking to be given there?


MR. THOMPSON:  Just let me finish.


MS. LEA:  Oh, I am sorry.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the other piece would be the gross up for taxes on that item.


MR. JODOIN:  Sure, that's not a problem.


MS. LEA:  J12.4, thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.4:  to provide the revenue requirement amount that equates to 100 basis points of ROE on the rate base of 10.5 billion


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, Ms. McKellar, we can't let you get away without asking a few questions.

Just in terms of your CV, I see you have been at Hydro for a number of years.


MS. McKELLAR:  For a very long number of years, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And when Mr. Nettleton introduced you, he introduced you as executive vice president.


MS. McKELLAR:  That's true.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in your CV here, you were senior vice president.  Have you moved up another notch since?


MS. McKELLAR:  I have, sir.  Yes, I was promoted recently, last month.

MR. THOMPSON:  Excellent.  And can you go any higher?


MS. McKELLAR:  I wish.  No, I believe this will be it for me.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, you have been with the company a long time and I wanted to get the benefit of your views on a couple of points.


One of them was the shift to the commercial bencher that you mentioned in your evidence in chief, and others did.  And let me just give you -- my perception of a commercial venture is one that provides services in a competitive market and has to compete to retain market share.  Is your perception the same?


MS. McKELLAR:  When I'm defining -- yes, I would agree with that.  But in the terms of Hydro One and what we are calling commercial focus has to do with the fact that we have new owners, new investor requirements.  We are -- we have, if I will say, a laser focus on driving customer focus, customer centric organization with more productivity and efficiencies that should benefit the ratepayer ultimately.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's Hydro One, the new Hydro One.  If we go down to Hydro One TX, transmission, which is what this Board regulates, do you regard that as a commercial venture?

MS. McKELLAR:  I do.  I do in a number of ways.  As I would say, I think commercial focus means what you are doing for your customer and in fact, this was the first time that we have done a TX customer engagement process which was recognized by this Board as being something very important.


We are looking at efficiencies, productivities, driving more accountability through management ranks.  So I think that all of those things are aligned with commercial focus.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my perception is it's an enterprise that provides essential services under the auspices of a monopoly.  Do you see it that way as well?

MS. McKELLAR:  I would say we do provide essential services.  But we also have new ownerships, which are also requiring that we drive productivity and efficiencies.  And that's going to benefit our ratepayers, customers in general.

I don't think that the two things, sir, are misaligned in terms of having commercial focus, and also currently not having much competition as it relates to transmission.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I will carry on with my characterization as an essentially services business operating under the auspices of a monopoly.  And you have been with this company for, I think, almost 35 years.


MS. McKELLAR:  I was going to say forever.  But, yes, a very long time.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you are talking to someone who has been around forever, grossed-up for taxes.


But in any event, what I would like to ask you is you have seen leaders of this company come and go, and so what do you regard as the key attributes of a best-in-class leader of this essentially services company?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's a great question.  So the way that I, speaking for myself and as I've focused the last 30 plus years on this, it's creating or developing an engaged workforce that can deliver on all the corporate objectives.


So in my mind, a leader has to be a transformational leader.  They have to be able to do this, bring out the best in people, be accountable for the outcomes, and I believe with the senior leadership team that the CEO recently hired himself, he has tried to do that very thing.


We have hired a chief legal officer, chief operating officer, a new customer care EVP of corporate affairs, and they always bring a transformational experience from their own sectors, whether it be customer operations or legal.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So now I am interested in how you translate those leadership qualities for an essential services company as this into the features of a compensation scheme that focus on utility performance that consumers value.  Can you help me with that?


MS. McKELLAR:  I think building and sustaining an engaged workforce is the same in all corporations, to be honest.  People are the same in all organizations.  They want to be led by somebody who does a variety of things which, as I said, they want to do the right thing, I like to say, even when no one is watching.


So in my mind, it doesn't matter whether you are providing an essential services utility or retail experience, and the way you do that is through having excellent managers too bring out the best in people every day.


And we have, in fact, taken this very seriously and we do, as you may have heard, the Gallup survey every year, and we very carefully look at the results, and managers are held accountable for increasing and improving on those scores every year.


So I think the way it benefits is that the workforce is highly engaged.  They are far more efficient.  They bring their best every day, they work in a safer fashion, and they deliver better customer service consistently.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I think there has been a lot of evidence in this case that consumers value service that has little interruption.  You have heard that?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  They value customer service as you have described, prompt customer service.  And you have also mentioned, and others have mentioned this concept of affordability.  What does affordability mean to you as the den mother of Hydro One's executives?


MS. McKELLAR:  So as we looked at affordability, there were a number of things.  And the board was very interested in this as we were looking at the design of our new compensation system, particularly for our senior executives.


So as I said when I testified the other day, that we have implemented a new defined contribution pension plan for our new executives, and all new management staff that join the company.  So that's a much more affordable plan as opposed to the people like myself under the DB plan.


We have also put -- if you look at our CEO, Mayo Schmidt, 80 percent of his compensation now is variable pay, and an it's based on outcomes which is will be rigorously monitored by the board of directors, 80 percent.  And for the other executives such as myself, it's also 80 percent including our vice president.

So when you look at variable pay which is based on outcomes which are in year for our short-term as well as long-term over three years for a financial EPS metric, those are going to be outcomes that will have to be, as I said rigorously monitored.  There is board discretion, and they will question the outcomes.  I know this.  And so that means that there is far less compensation in the fixed portion.


MR. THOMPSON:  What do you think affordability means to the consumer?

MS. McKELLAR:  To the consumer?

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MS. McKELLAR:  I think it means being able to get valued service at a price that seems fair.  And if you will, that's why we have a very big focus on customer and are doing what we can in terms of the bill.  Unfortunately, some of the bill is not necessarily -- much of it is commodity.  But with what we are accountable for, we are working very hard on delivering value for that bill.

MR. THOMPSON:  And is there anything specific in this scorecard that evaluates performance on the metric of affordability; namely, what consumers see that they can afford?


MS. McKELLAR:  If we are looking at the 2017 team scorecard, which is our corporate scorecard, and affordability as it pertains to the customer, we have got the customer satisfaction metrics, and I would say that obviously if we can't deal with value and if we can't work on what we can do to restrain the costs, that that will go into the customer satisfaction score.

MR. THOMPSON:  Has any thought been given to comparing transmission rates from one jurisdiction to another?  In other words, what's Hydro One asking consumers to pay versus what's Quebec Hydro asking consumers to pay, looking at the differential and saying -- setting a target to drive Hydro One to narrow the differential?

MS. McKELLAR:  Sir, you are asking about the rates that consumers are paying in the different jurisdictions?

MR. THOMPSON:  I am asking about prices.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  I am not aware that we have looked at that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MS. McKELLAR:  I would have to defer to other colleagues on other panels, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Lastly, do you participate in the board of director meetings?

MS. McKELLAR:  I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so were you there on December the 2nd?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I was.

MR. THOMPSON:  Did you hear Mr. Vels yesterday describe what transpired?  And there was a lot of talk about how prices could be tempered in years beyond -- I think he mentioned 2018 -- because of some material impacts that were then coming into play?  I may be paraphrasing that a little high-level, but were you there for that discussion?

MS. McKELLAR:  I was there.

MR. THOMPSON:  And does that tell us anything as to where we are in terms of hitting the price increase wall for electricity prices in Ontario?  I mean, it's obviously a concern at the director level.

MS. McKELLAR:  Sir, that would be a question that the CFO would be better positioned -- but I will tell you, if you are asking in terms of the board of directors -- and I do attend all of those meetings -- there is very much a concern and a focus by our new board of directors on customer price, on affordability, and on other key stakeholders.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so lastly, can you tell me how the focus on profits, earnings growth, and that kind of thing in the scorecard achieves an outcome that holds price levels relatively current and not increasing?

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure.  As Mr. Vels, I believe, testified, that EPS is probably one of the best measures of financial health in an organization, and we look at it over a three-year term for our long-term incentive program.  I believe that if we are not doing the right things in terms of outcomes for the customer as well as all shareholders and our other stakeholders, that we are not going to be in good financial health, so I think there a direct benefit.  It allows you to reinvest back in the business to improve reliability and other things.

So I think that financial metrics like EPS do have a value back to the business and the customers.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  That just leaves -- raises one last question.  In the material there is a suggestion that the target dividend rate is 70 percent.  Are you people -- is that part of the finance panel?

MS. McKELLAR:  So there is in our long-term incentive plan -- there is a modifier which we are using -- in addition to the EPS numbers over the three-year period there is also, I will call it a circuit breaker, that if the dividend falls below 84 cents that there will not be a long-term incentive paid out.

So as it relates to that number I can tell you that's part of the methodology we are using for looking at the long-term incentive for executives.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is that a 70 percent payout ratio, that 84-cent level, or do you know --


MS. McKELLAR:  Off the top -- I am sorry, off the top of my head...

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So --


MS. McKELLAR:  They won't let me answer finance questions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  You are on the finance panel, but you can't answer finance questions.  All right.  I will leave it there, thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We do have a -- sorry, I wasn't sure if you were concerned about that question or whether or not the panel was pulling together an answer to Mr. Thompson's last question, but if we are not, that's fine, we'll move on.  Dr. Elsayed has a question or two.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah, I have a few questions about the corporate management costs.  If I can take you to Exhibit I, tab 13, Schedule 18, page 1.  These are the board of directors and the board chair costs, actual and projected.

My first question is just a clarification.  So I am assuming based on the way it is stated here that the chair -- if separated, the chair's cost is not part of the board of directors, as shown here?  In other words, they are mutually exclusive, those two lines.

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, yeah, we broke those out separately to show the more detail, and if you don't mind, I do want to clarify that included within the chair costs in the test years are costs associated with a new ombudsman group within the company that reports to -- that reports directly to the board of directors.  So they were included in these costs for the test years, and that's why you see the big jump from 2015 out into the test years 2017 and 2018 specific to the chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  So if we stay with that, then, how do you explain the jump from 300 to 600 between 2015 to 2016 then, double the compensation?

MR. JODOIN:  I would likely have to check, but what I would assume, it could be timing of when that group was included.  But that's speculation, so I would appreciate the opportunity to check to respond to that fully.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, if we just go to the top line first.  My first question is, what percentage -- or how do you break down the total cost of the board of directors among -- percentage-wise among the different business units in Hydro One?

MS. LEA:  I am sorry to interrupt.  Was there a need for an undertaking there?

DR. ELSAYED:  Not yet.  That might be --


MS. LEA:  Okay.  You are going to wait and see.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- part of another one --


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thanks.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, thank you.

MR. JODOIN:  So this would follow the Black & Veatch principles in the allocation methodology.  Specific to the board of directors and how the time is allocated it would be derived with various cost drivers for the company consistent with the methodology, and also with a senior management review of the anticipated time to be spent over the test years.

Once all of that is derived using test-year data along with the senior management review of the anticipated time allocation, that would be included in the models reviewed and approved through the Black & Veatch methodology.

DR. ELSAYED:  So can you provide that breakdown for -- like, the total cost of the board of directors broken down by business unit for those years?

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, that's not a problem.  And obviously, it's not broken out, but in Exhibit C1-6-1 we do break out the corporate management totals.  Obviously the board and the chair would be embedded behind that, so we can provide that extra layer --


DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah, no, I'm --


MR. JODOIN:  -- in the undertaking.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- for now interested in the --


MR. JODOIN:  Sure.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- cost of the board and how is that broken down among the different units in Hydro One for the period 2012 to 2018.

MR. JODOIN:  Okay, no problem.

MS. LEA:  J12.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.5:  TO PROVIDE THE TOTAL COST OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS BROKEN DOWN BY BUSINESS UNIT BY YEAR.

DR. ELSAYED:  There may be other parts, I guess, to that undertaking.

So if we look at the board of directors cost, you can see in 2012, 2013, 2014, it's fairly steady at somewhere between 1.5- to $1.9 million.  And then in 2015, the plan was still within that range of 1.9, but the actual is almost double that amount.  Can you explain that?

MS. McKELLAR:  So part of it is timing, Mr. Elsayed, but also it is a different board of directors, and if you look at the new independent board of directors, I would say they are very experienced, many of them working in public
-- all of them, I should say, working in publicly traded company, and the compensation plans are different than the former boards were.

DR. ELSAYED:  And when did that happen, the change and comp -- the new board?

MS. McKELLAR:  The chair joined Hydro One -- I'd have to check this -- probably around June of 2015, just prior to the IPO.  It might have been slightly earlier.  And then the other board members were being brought on after that.  So they came on at different times and were there by the end of 2015.

DR. ELSAYED:  So you think -- are you saying that explains the doubling of the amount that you had planned from 1.9 to 3.7 in 2015 as mostly or entirely because of the new board members?

MS. McKELLAR:  I would say yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  And how many of the board percentage- wise were new in that year?

MS. McKELLAR:  There are 14 independent board members; the 15th is our CEO.  And of those 14, two board members were on the previous Hydro One board of directors.

DR. ELSAYED:  And the rest were new?

MS. McKELLAR:  So two out of 14.

DR. ELSAYED:  Then if we look at 2016 going forward, it goes up further again to 4.2 million.  And what is the reason for that?

MR. JODOIN:  I think part of this explanation is going to tie back to the original mapping of the ombudsman group. I believe in 2016, it was placed in the business plan in that year and then, after review through the Black & Veatch allocation, it was moved down to the chair.

So I think if we had the opportunity to include that reconciliation in the undertaking, I think it would make it more clear as to where each group sits, and obviously the allocation to each affiliate.  I think would make it clear.

DR. ELSAYED:  I think that would be helpful.

MR. JODOIN:  Okay.

DR. ELSAYED:  Then my last question is does the compensation of the board members, or is it in any way tied to the performance of the company?

MS. McKELLAR:  It is tied absolutely to the performance of the company.  I was trying to think of some specifics.  I will tell you that there is part of their compensation that will be paid in terms of deferred share units, which is tied obviously to the financial health of the company.  And there are some arrangements around that where they have to take a certain percentage; I believe it's 50 percent, but I would have to check that.

DR. ELSAYED:  And the part that is tied to the performance is included in these dollars we are looking at?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  Yes, it is.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Dr. Elsayed.  Could we have that breakdown as to the performance versus base, to put it crudely, in the directors' pay as part of that undertaking as well?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, you may.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay, thank you.  Any redirect, Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you have an undertaking number?

MR. QUESNELLE:   Yes, we have an undertaking number.

MS. LEA:  Yes we have an undertaking number.  I think it was all part of 12.5; that's my understanding.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Let's do it this way.
Re-Examination by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. McKellar, just a quick one.  You mentioned two out of 14; I am going to go the other way.  How many new board members do you have out of 14?

MS. McKELLAR:  Twelve and, in addition, our CEO is new.  So 13 out of 15.

MR. NETTLETON:  Panel, you were -- in particular, Ms. McKellar, you were asked some questions about benchmarking of transmission rates to other jurisdictions.

The evidence in this proceeding includes a variety of benchmarking studies; you are aware of that?

MR. JODOIN:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And is it your understanding that under cost of service rate regulation, regardless of the jurisdiction, the rates are determined by taking into account costs of service like OM&A?

MR. JODOIN:  That's my understanding.

MR. NETTLETON:  And it also takes into account the regulated return or fair return values?

MR. JODOIN:  Correct, that's my understanding.

MR. NETTLETON:  And so looking at OM&A benchmarking studies that have been filed in this proceeding would be one way for Mr. Thompson to understand how other jurisdictions, and other utilities in other jurisdictions, have their costs measured against yours?

MR. JODOIN:  That's fair.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. McKellar, Mr. Thompson also asked you several questions about changes in the organization.  I am going to try and link some of the changes in personnel at your executive level to some of the issues that Hydro One has been facing.

It's fair to say that there has been some significant concerns and confusion regarding Hydro One's bill?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And how have you addressed that at the senior level?

MS. McKELLAR:  We hired a former executive who was the president of WestJet Encore, a gentleman named Ferio Pugliese, who is heading up our customer care and corporate affairs unit, who is very well regard -- very well respected executive as it relates to customer.

MR. NETTLETON:  Why would you expect or think that someone outside of the Hydro One organization would bring a different perspective and ability to address the concerns related to Hydro One's bill?

MS. McKELLAR:  I think customer satisfaction is customer satisfaction regardless -- as I said earlier in another response, regardless of the industry you are in.  WestJet has still, I believe, a marvelous reputation for customers, and Mr. Pugliese is spearheading, as I would say, a transformation in our company as it relates to customer with respect to the bill, customer consultations, self-service, get local initiatives and all these things you will be seeing coming out in the next couple of years, some will be in the first quarter in fact of 2017.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is it your evidence, Ms. McKellar, that customer service and being responsive to customers is something that this Board should take into account in respect of the regulation and the rates that are charged to customers?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I believe so, because in order to attract this level of executive, compensation programs such as the short-term incentive and the long-term are very much a part of a typical compensation program for a publicly traded company, and we have benchmarked against companies that we believe that we should use in terms of attracting and retaining, losing talent to, and that's how we designed our comp programs.

And all of our executives have this kind of leadership.  In fact, Mr. Vels was instrumental in finding the pension and recommending the early valuation of the pension, which saved us millions of dollars.  And he is driving many productivity and efficiencies initiatives in the company himself that we should see come to fruition.  They will benefit the customer; they should benefit the customer by lower rates ultimately.

MR. NETTLETON:  Just on that point, Ms. McKellar and panel, I think one of the burning questions that is in people's minds resulting from this proceeding is what the value proposition has been for the compensation levels that are being proposed and have been implemented for Mr. Vels and Mr. Schmidt.

I am wondering if you could provide perspective on whether there been a creative value to date.

MS. McKELLAR:  So as Mr. Thompson was pointing out in the beginning of his questions to me, I have been here 34 years and I have worked under a number of leaders and they have all been, I would say, very competent leaders.

I have never worked with a team of executives that have the experience, the credentials, and are actually what I would call transformational leaders as the team that the CEO has put together with the board ratification.  They have all excelled in their own lines of business, whether it be our chief legal officer, who was a senior partner at Torys, and what he is doing, the COO who worked formerly at PG&E, and so forth.

They are transformational leaders, and when I look at what needs to be done at Hydro if we are going to the truly become a company that we say has a commercial focus and is customer centric, we are going to need this kind of leadership to do it.

It's a very, very -- we have a very long history.  It's over 100 years having been Ontario Hydro.  We have a lot of orthodoxies that we have to eliminate in the company, and you need this kind of leadership at the top if you are going to do it.  Otherwise, I don't think you will be successful, I really don't.

MR. NETTLETON:  With respect to your understanding of transmission system planning, you're aware, Ms. McKellar, that transmission system planning was a topic of concern in issue in the Auditor General's report that was released?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And with respect to the executive hirings that have happened, I think your evidence is that Hydro One has now hired a new chief operating officer.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is there any correlation between the two?


MS. McKELLAR:  Absolutely.  The COO, I was -- and I should say that I was involved at all of these -- in the selection process for each of our new executives, so I did participate, I did see the caliber of candidates that we looked at, and was ultimately one of the people making the decisions to hire these people, and when you look at Greg Kiraly, who is our new chief operating officer, he spent 30-plus years in major North American utilities.  Lately -- the last one was PG&E, but he was in Con Ed before then, has a wealth of experience in driving productivity and efficiencies out of organizations, and that was one of the things that was most attractive to him as a candidate, was coming into our environment and replicating his experience at Hydro One.


MR. NETTLETON:  You mentioned, Ms. McKellar, that Hydro One has also retained a new general counsel; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct; James Scarlett.


MR. NETTLETON:  And one of the issues that you indicated in your evidence was that Hydro One has been and is facing a higher level of retirement or turnover of employees; correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. NETTLETON:  And is the change in position in the retaining of Mr. Scarlett related to the fact that the former general counsel retired?


MS. McKELLAR:  That is true.  Mr. Agostino retired earlier in the year, and in the process of recruiting a new chief legal officer we were mindful if we wanted to take a new look at how we manage legal department we are also looking at growth initiatives, we are also looking at -- Mr. Scarlett has a wealth of experience in securities, as well as growth, mergers and acquisitions and the like.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Jodoin, I want to just take you back to the discussion you were having with Mr. Janigan this morning and Mr. Brett, and I just want to, if I could, have Exhibit A3-1, Table 5 brought up.  This is a familiar table to many who have been in this proceeding throughout.  It sets out the transmission capital budget.  Do you see that?


MR. JODOIN:  I do.


MR. NETTLETON:  And I just want to direct your attention to the applied-for test years and confirm with me that the capital expenditure program that's proposed is one that is increasing at approximately -- well, at least the sustaining capital, cap ex program is increasing at approximately a rate of 30 percent, subject to check; correct?


MR. JODOIN:  Correct.


MR. NETTLETON:  All right.  And now if we could go to Exhibit C2-1-1.  Here is a summary of your OM&A costs; correct?


MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.  And I would just add on that through the interrogatory process we did bring down that OM&A.  I can quote the exact numbers.  2017 the ask is 412.7 million.  And 2018 the ask is 409.3 million.


MR. NETTLETON:  So we have a situation where the work program is increasing, as shown in Exhibit A3-1, and your OM&A expenses are increasing -- sorry, decreasing; correct?


MR. JODOIN:  Correct.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, with respect to head count, Mr. McDonell, in this context, please explain whether head count is increasing or decreasing or, if it's increasing or decreasing, at what rate.


MR. McDONELL:  Over what period of time, Mr. Nettleton?


MR. NETTLETON:  The test year period, sir.


MR. McDONELL:  The test year.  I don't have the period 2017 to 2018, but between 2016 and 2018 we are reducing our total employees by 37.


MR. NETTLETON:  So relatively flat, given the size of the organization.


MR. McDONELL:  Relatively flat.  Our regular head count is going down, certainly.


MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  And then the last point of clarification relates to the capitalized portion of OM&A, and I just want to be clear that the evidence of Hydro One is that -- I want clarity with respect to the rate of the capitalized OM&A.  You have made reference to a change in the rate, and I would like you to explain how that affects the overall cost of service that is being applied for here in the context of a larger work program?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  If I understand the question, the larger work program or the more capital work, it's yielded -- while the rate is decreasing -- the overall capitalization rate is decreasing it has yielded a larger quantum, so more dollars are being capitalized, more OM&A dollars are being capitalized.  Is that the question that you are asking, Mr. Nettleton?


MR. NETTLETON:  And in respect of the absolute dollar that is being capitalized, are the absolute dollars affected by the change in rate that you have referred to in your evidence?  Mr. Chhelavda, what is the rate that you are applying to that calculation?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  So the overhead capitalization rate is actually declining from 2016 and '17 and '18.


MR. NETTLETON:  And why is that?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  It's declining because less OM&A dollars are being capitalized.


MR. NETTLETON:  I want to turn your attention to the capital in-service variance account.  There was discussion again with Mr. Janigan and Mr. Brett about that topic.


Panel, was the capital in-service variance account calculated previously for the years 2014, '15, and '16?  Was it used in that time period?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  So, yes, we do have an in-service variance account for those years.


MR. NETTLETON:  And was it calculated over a three-year period in the past?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  So for those years, '14, '15, '16, it will be calculated over a three-year period, yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, with respect to this application, are you proposing to calculate the in-service variance account over the same three-year period or the test-year period of two years?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  It will be the test-year period of two years.


MR. NETTLETON:  With respect to reconciliation of the capital in-service variance account, what happens at the end of the two-year period with respect to amounts that are included in that account?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  So to the extent, if we under -- so if there is a -- if the in-service amount is under what was board-approved, then we would calculate the revenue requirement related to that and put it into the variance account to provide back to customers.  In the event that it was greater than board-approved, nothing would happen.


MR. NETTLETON:  I just also want some clarity, Mr. Chhelavda, regarding your testimony this morning about the pension adjustments and the projected OM&A costs, and maybe again we can go to Exhibit C1-2-1, which I believe shows the...  I believe it was in Mr. Janigan's compendium at page 37.  All right.  We are having a discussion, or you were having a discussion about the variance of the $4.6 million amount; do you remember that?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  I do.

MR. NETTLETON:  And, Mr. Chhelavda, can you confirm with me that the variance -- any variance with respect to total OM&A is a variance that does not have a deferral account associated with it, correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  For total OM&A, no.

MR. NETTLETON:  And with respect to the pension adjustments that you spoke of, does that have a deferral account associated with it?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  It does.  So to the extent that our for -- our actual costs differ from our forecasted costs, in this case they are actually lower, it will go to the variance account to be given back to the customers in the future.

MR. NETTLETON:  And with respect to your in-service variance account that we spoke of earlier, is that the same account, or is that a different account from your pension adjustments?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  It will be a different account.

MR. NETTLETON:  And it again will be calculated on a two-year basis, correct?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  The current one will be on a three-year basis, right.  And then this application will be on a two-year basis.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, those are my questions in redirect.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Why don't we take the morning break and we will resume at 11:50, then to 12.  And that that time, Mr. Elson, you will have your witness up.

I would like the thank the panel for your testimony over the last several days.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 11:34 a.m.

--- On resuming at 12:01 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, yes?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just before we begin, Mr. Chair, if I might, I wanted to take this time to apologize for my use of the phrase "den mother" in my examination of Ms. McKellar.  I certainly didn't -- my colleagues brought to my attention that the use of that phrase could be misconstrued, and I wanted to say that in my examination what I was trying to obtain from Ms. McKellar was the facts of her history that she, in my mind, had a very lengthy career at Ontario Hydro and, to me, she was the most senior leader amongst the executive group at the company, and I meant that when I used that phrase.  That's what I had in my mind.  And I sincerely apologize if my use of the phrase is taken in a way that was not intended.


Again, she is the most experienced person, in my mind, among the leadership group, and her evidence should be considered in that context.  So I ask, please, forgive me.  And I hope she will accept my apology as being sincere, and the words were not intended to give rise to something that was intended -- I intended to convey exactly the opposite.  So forgive me.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

Mr. Elson, what I think we probably best to -- just on a plan forward is the -- you have a fairly lengthy direct examination, and why don't we do that up until the lunch break.  Whenever you are finished we will break for lunch, and then we will come back and have the examination by others after an hour of lunch break.  Does that sound fair to you?

MR. ELSON:  I think in terms of timing that should work.  I have been trying to narrow down that time, so it could be done even sooner, and to actually get started a bit with some of the cross-examination, but I think you're probably right that it will end up being around lunchtime, but if I can make a miracle happen and be faster, then --


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, that's fine, I'm just saying looking for a natural break, and why don't we do it between your --


MR. ELSON:  That may be the case, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- direct examination and cross, okay?  Great.  Okay.  Thank you.  If you want to introduce your witness, and then we'll have him affirmed.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  It's my pleasure to introduce Mr. Travis Lusney, a director at Power Advisory LLP.  He's an experienced consultant, as noted by the Board in Procedural Order 4.  I won't go every his extensive qualifications and experience except to note that his CV is attached at Appendix A to his report that we will be discussing today.

MR. LUSNEY:  Can I make one clarification?  It's Power Advisory LLC, not LLP.

MR. ELSON:  My apologies, that's a lawyer mistake.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will administer the affirmation.
ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE - PANEL 1

Travis Lusney, Affirmed


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, just as a quick housekeeping matter -- and I spoke to Ms. Lea and Mr. Nettleton about this -- we filed transmission loss information from the IESO, and it doesn't need to be pulled up, but it might make sense to mark it as an exhibit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thanks, let's do that.

MS. LEA:  K12.3, please.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.3:  TRANSMISSION LOSS INFORMATION FROM THE IESO.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Lusney, do you have your report in front of you?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I do.

MR. ELSON:  And can you confirm that this report was prepared by you or under your direction or control?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I can.

MR. ELSON:  Is the evidence accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, it is.

MR. ELSON:  And again, Mr. Chair, this has already been filed, but perhaps a standalone copy of the evidence should be marked as an exhibit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, we can do that, Ms. Lea, if that makes sense to you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, yes, that would be K12.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.4:  Environmental defence EVIDENCE (Mr. Lusney's report.)


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  In the interest of time, Mr. Lusney, I am not going to ask you to provide a summary or reiterate everything that's in this report.  The Board has your written evidence.  But I would like to ask you a few questions about the work that is done by U.K.'s National Grid Electricity Transmission on transmission losses.

And so can you tell us broadly speaking what National Grid does to monitor and report on transmission losses?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.  So National Grid under the United Kingdom transmission regulation has some special licence conditions primarily focused around reporting of transmission losses, publishing of a methodology for calculation, and assessments of -- and taking into consideration transmission losses during the planning of their system for both load, expansion, and reinforcements.

Particularly, National Grid has five separate parts of a strategy on transmission losses they employ.  The first is a whole life value framework, which takes in the transmission losses as a balance against other objectives and considerations when making investments.  They also look at transmission losses as part of equipment specification, procurement processes, and operation.  And finally, they look into -- and the final three are the impact of transmission losses both for key load-related developments, for replacement of or reinforcement of existing assets, and finally, that they look at the impact of possibilities of new technology on transmission losses.

MR. ELSON:  And those five items, they are listed in your evidence at page 13 and 14; is that right?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  So at a high level what does National Grid do to incorporate losses into planning?

MR. LUSNEY:  What they do is they take a consideration of what the loss impact might be from different investment decisions and balance it against other objectives, and I will say at a high level being reliability, safety, cost-effectiveness, and determine whether the benefits of loss reduction outweigh the cost of that loss reduction.

So in general, their investment plan has as a part of their decision-making the impact of transmission losses on the system and the cost of reducing transmission losses.

MR. ELSON:  And now National Grid is both the system operator and the transmission owner.  Does that make it inapplicable to Hydro One as an example of best practices regarding transmission losses?

MR. LUSNEY:  So previously in this hearing, and Hydro One's evidence in responses discussed how the separation of system operator in terms of the independent electricity system operator in Ontario and Hydro One Network Incorporated as the transmission owner and operator is distinctly different than National Grid.

The example of methodology and approach that National Grid has taken in the view of our analysis is focused primarily on the responsibilities as a transmission owner and operator.  In other words, in terms of the investment in and spending of capital on the transmission system, and the planning of the transmission system investments as it relates to key load developments, new technology, reinforcement, and the procurement and operation of new transmission assets.

MR. ELSON:  So I think what you are saying is the focus of its reports are on its asset ownership rather than its roles as the operator.

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.  It may be for some clarification -- the approach doesn't look at generation-siting or dispatch or day-to-day real-time operation.

MR. ELSON:  And you referred to a five-part strategy, and that was in your evidence at page 13 and 14, and which of those items apply to National Grid as a transmission owner and would apply also to Hydro One as a transmission owner?

MR. LUSNEY:  In the view of the analysis and my understanding of Hydro One's responsibilities, all five could be the responsibility of Hydro One.  And this primarily bases from the fact that Hydro One is asset owner, makes investment decisions, is the capital spender on those assets and the operator of those assets.

MR. ELSON:  And I would like you to comment on some of the responses that Hydro One provided in relation to your evidence, moving on, and I believe you have had a chance to review the transcript of Hydro One's oral evidence in this proceeding.

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I have.

MR. ELSON:  It was often said that the IESO is responsible for certain possible transmission loss related measures.  How would you comment on that?

MR. LUSNEY:  My comment is I agree with Hydro One's assertion that as the system operator, and specifically as the generator dispatcher and as the central planner of the power system in terms of where generation -- new generation or new supply resources would be sited, they have a responsibility in terms of majority of transmission losses.

MR. ELSON:  And how does that pertain to the recommendations in your report?

MR. LUSNEY:  So the recommendations in my report, although in agreement with the IESO, has some or has majority of responsibility.  Ontario's Conservation First framework puts responsibility for efficiency gains where cost effective, and therefore for all players.  And therefore, Hydro One as the asset owner and investor and operator of those assets, does have some responsibility or some capability to influence transmission losses as a balance to their other objectives which, again, I will refer to as safety, reliability, cost effectiveness.

So therefore, although not a complete ownership, that portion is important.

MR. ELSON:  And so maybe it's helpful to discuss some examples.  One of those was adding new capacitors and reactors and in that discussion, Hydro One said that the IESO had not identified further need for reactive facilities.  Can you comment on that response from Hydro One?

MR. LUSNEY:  In Ontario, central planning of the power system is generally the responsibility of the IESO. However, because the IESO does not own assets and does not have a deep understanding of the transmission network, they rely on transmitters, of which the vast majority is Hydro One, for information on the power system, for studies of the power system and the transmission network, and therefore it is a strong relationship in terms of determining certain investment criteria.

A second point that has evolved over the past few years is Ontario's adoption of regional planning, which is a coordination and cooperation between the IESO as the central planner, the transmitter -- in many cases, Hydro One -- local distributors and utilities, along with other stakeholders.  So there is a responsibility for participation from all of those stakeholders.

MR. ELSON:  So does it make sense for the IESO to identify and assess opportunities in this area alone, without Hydro One's involvement?

MR. LUSNEY:  I think if you -- my assumption would be it would be difficult for the IESO to operate alone without both input from Hydro One as the asset owner/operator, especially as it relates to the cost of investment and the impact on reliability, along with it would be difficult if that collaboration was not a positive collaboration to come to conclusions on how best to plan, expand, reinforce the Ontario transmission system.

MR. ELSON:  And can you provide an example of when it might make sense for Hydro One to be the body to bring forward an opportunity in this area?

MR. LUSNEY:  The best examples that I can think of is actually related to the recent regional planning.  In many of those cases, the regional plan is opened up not for a specific need, but to look at how a specific part of the power system is evolving and have all stakeholders bring forward issues that they may see, or options and opportunities to increase the effectiveness of the power system.

And in particular, regional planning focuses on conservation as a first option, along with looking at what I will refer to as traditional wires solutions -- so this would be both transmission and distribution assets -- and possibly central or distributed generation to resolve power systems needs or increase efficiency.

MR. ELSON:  And what about opportunities to, I guess as you could say, piggy-back or capitalize on other work that Hydro One is doing, particularly physical work.

What role would Hydro One have in presenting potential opportunities to have sort of piggy-back projects, if I can describe it as such.

MR. LUSNEY:  When it comes to planning of the power system, especially related to regional but also centrally, integrated planning is very important and it's looking at opportunities to accomplish multiple objectives at the lowest possible cost.

So in many cases, this is options that may reveal themselves as other major projects are driving investment.  So, for example, if, for certain reasons, a transmitter may be looking at a station and reinforcements at that station, it may be an opportunity to make other investments, rearrangements or changes because you are already taking an outage at that station.  And by outage, I mean this station is either off line, or areas of it are safe to do investment operations.

MR. ELSON:  That's helpful, thank you.  Just moving on to another comment that Hydro One made, which was that super conductors are only used in short runs, and I believe the conclusion being drawn from that is that they are not really worth looking at, what would your response to that be?

MR. LUSNEY:  So I would start with, again as an example, looking at the national grid, monitoring new technologies and determining when and if they might be appropriate to invest in.

To the comment from Hydro One on short runs, I believe they also included dense urban areas.  Hydro One's transmission network does touch on the greater Toronto area and, in particular, the City of Toronto.  So there may be opportunities to make that investment.

However, that sort of analysis needs to be completed with the appropriate information and it may not be concluded to make sense.  And again, it's a balancing of objectives, where losses may not be the primary driver, but it could be a secondary driver that, for lack of a better term, tips the scale of making a certain investment decision one way or another.

MR. ELSON:  Hydro One also provided an example of the economics of conductor upsizing in its written -- I think it was called additional evidence.  Can you comment on that?

MR. LUSNEY:  So I believe -- and I am not going to have the right addendum, but it's on the Hydro One information package that provided me question 31.

They discuss the expected conductor replacement costs for 440 circuit kilometres to be in the range of $180 million.  My analysis is it's difficult to determine what the upgrade cost is, because it appears that that number represents the total replacement, not the difference between -- call it a larger size conductor, or optionality to reduce transmission losses versus the original investment.

So it would be more looking at the delta to determine the value of transmission loss reductions.

MR. ELSON:  And that's your comment on the costs.  Do you have any comment on the purported benefits, as described in the example that Hydro One provided?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.  So Hydro One discusses how Ontario's transmission system, or Hydro One's transmission system expects to have roughly 1.7 percent replacement; so we will call it roughly 500 kilometres a year.  They also focus on the fact these assets are generational assets, expected to last 60 to 80 years.  Therefore, any benefit that you might gain on cost reduction through transmission losses have to be balanced against the total lifetime operation.  And therefore, when you are looking at the benefits, and I believe they conclude, based on information provided by Environment Defence, that those savings would be roughly a million dollars a year.

And my additional comment is those savings need to be net present valued over the total life of that asset, and then compared to that delta cost of investing in possible transmission loss reduction strategies.  In this case, the discussion was on lower resistance conductors, in other words larger conductors and the ability to actually implement that strategy.

MR. ELSON:  You just talked about the importance of the fact that these are -- I think you used the word generational assets.  Can you comment on that from the perspective of a concern about lost opportunities?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.  So Hydro One -- and I will say in our analysis, we agree with their assessment that it is unlikely that transmission losses alone are going to be invested earlier in the life, so before an asset has reached its either -- I will call it accounting life, or end of life or whatever failure, and therefore you are going to more make those investment decisions at a time when you are going to be doing the replacement anyways, and it's about looking for opportunities to try and have the most efficient system in the future, looking not just at the spending in a given year and the savings in a given year but spending on the asset and the lifetime savings of the asset.


MR. ELSON:  There was also some comments about total transmission losses being a bad measure of Hydro One's performance.  And let's assume for the sake of discussion that total system-wide losses are not the most -- or the most precise performance measures.


Even if that were the case, is there still merit in Hydro One reporting on losses similar to what National Grid does?


MR. LUSNEY:  There are merits.  And I think the starting point was -- would be providing both stakeholders and Hydro One a common understanding in how Ontario would calculate transmission losses and ensuring that there is no disagreement both in terms of regulatory proceedings and in other analysis, so that what constitutes a transmission loss versus others is at least understood, and then it's a balance of the amount of effort that's required.


On top of that, when you look at analysis of conservation first framework and conservation activities, in many cases the focus is on measurement, verification, and reporting, in terms of really understanding, well, what are you actually gaining, and is it a valid investment decision or not.


And then finally that calculation or historical look allows you at least some capability on two different paths to either see, well, what might be external, external shocks that have pushed my losses up or down that I cannot control, or what are aspects that I may be able to control, whether it's Hydro One's responsibility or possibly other players such as the IESO.


And in addition, that value also gives you a chance to benchmark or compare to other jurisdictions that maybe have made investment decisions that will allow Hydro One and other stakeholders to determine whether it's the best investment to make or a path to go down.


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Lusney, I would like to refer you to page 36 of the compendium that Hydro One has provided for questions for you, so this Hydro One's compendium, page 36, and if that could be pulled up on the screen that would be great.


So I had asked for the documents showing how transmission losses are accounted for in Hydro One's tendering process for transformers, and Hydro One provided this document, and you will see that at clause 6 here there is reference to transmission losses.


Can you explain what this clause does and how that might be the same or different from how National Grid incorporates transmission losses into its tendering processes?


MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, so there is a few -- my assessment, it's not necessarily clear to the full extent on how Hydro One is folding this in and what's provided.  They have assigned a dollar value both for no-load losses and for load losses that relate to an impact on the tender's bid price or tendered price.  And how they arrived at those dollar values isn't necessarily explained.  The expectation is it's the cost of getting equipment that is not to where either Hydro One would like to see the losses in the system or it could be related to losses as they calculate for the total transmission system.


MR. ELSON:  And I understand that these figures here are basically a penalty if you're underperforming; is that right?


MR. LUSNEY:  Yeah, it's an impact on the tender price, and the expectation it will be negative towards, you know, a low price if they couldn't produce what was expected.


MR. ELSON:  So this is a sort of after-the-fact making sure that you are doing what you said you were going to do.


MR. LUSNEY:  And -- no, I am making assumptions, but it could very much be in terms of, Hydro One has requested a certain type of equipment, and if they get different equipment than what they have asked for they need some way of recouping those costs, assuming that different equipment has a negative impact.


MR. ELSON:  And when National Grid is looking at transmission losses for tendering and the like, how are they doing that?  Is that before the tendering process, after the tendering process, just at a sort of high level?


MR. LUSNEY:  So my understanding, and it's presented at a high level in my evidence, that National Grid first takes this whole life framework -- or whole life value framework approach, where they consider, okay, what would be the decision of different investments when you calculate transmission losses and some value of transmission losses in as it balances to other objectives, and then they also ten take into -- okay, when we are going to buy new equipment, how do we influence or ensure that we are getting the best -- optimized equipment to reduce transmission losses both in the procurement of the equipment but also in the operation of the equipment afterwards.


MR. ELSON:  So I think what you are saying is that there is a formal inclusion of the costs when deciding between bids.  Is that what they do?


MR. LUSNEY:  That's correct.  I think the only clarity is that those formal inclusions could be eliminated at an earlier stage if it's determined there is no value for transmission loss reductions as part of the whole life value framework.


MR. ELSON:  So Hydro One acknowledged that it didn't have a figure for the avoided cost of transmission losses, and can you comment on that and what it says about at least potentially how Hydro One is doing things differently from National Grid?


MR. LUSNEY:  I think a high-level comment would be that Hydro One, by not having that value, at least -- by not having that value, it's difficult to determine what the benefits or optimization for efficient -- for reduction of transmission losses.


So it would be difficult to determine how much to spend to gain how many losses if you don't have that avoided cost.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If I could ask you to turn to the compendium.  This is the compendium that Environmental Defence put forward for panel 5, and I figured rather than having duplicate amounts of information I could just use the same document here.


If you could turn to tab 1, and there is on page 1 a calculation of transmission loss volumes.  I don't want to get into this in any detail.  I don't want to ask you to confirm the underlying numbers.  And the Panel does have a copy of the compendium on the dais.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We do.


MR. ELSON:  And for the record, this is Exhibit 5.4.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. ELSON:  And so Mr. Lusney, does this methodology seem reasonable to you?


MR. LUSNEY:  As a high-level estimate of transmission volumes and cost, looking at it, I will say on an annual basis the methodology is reasonable.  It takes an average losses throughout the year and applies it to a wholesale market generation cost, and I will clarify, wholesale is the inclusion of both the commodity price where in Ontario it's the hourly Ontario energy price, or HOEP, along with a global adjustment, which is a contract top-up for conservation, regulatory, and contracted facilities, and so the combination of the two gets you a total wholesale, so it takes that cost by the total amount of losses to produce an estimated total cost.


MR. ELSON:  And can you comment briefly on whether it would be reasonable to calculate this just based on the HOEP, not including the global adjustment, if you are trying to get an accurate measure of the total cost of losses?


MR. LUSNEY:  So Ontario's electricity market can be referred to as a hybrid market, though it has a wholesale real-time market and dispatch based on energy offers into the power system and energy bids.  It is heavily influenced and those bids and activities are heavily influenced by contracted facilities and regulated facilities along with costs of conservation.  They are all included in global adjustment.


So only taking the commodity price doesn't capture the whole cost of the wholesale market price, that you really need to capture in one way or another those contracted costs to get a wholesale energy rate, or I will call it an avoided energy cost if you were to making that calculation.


MR. ELSON:  I would like to ask you further about avoided cost, and if you could turn to tab 2 of this compendium, page 10.  And again, you know, I don't think it makes sense to get into a lot of details.


What we just discussed was, I guess you could say a high level, a rough and ready, a ballpark methodology for very roughly calculating the cost of transmission losses.


If you were to do something a lot more rigorous, would it be appropriate to do something similar to what you see here, which is the avoided cost calculations in relation to conservation and demand management?


MR. LUSNEY:  I think it, would because it starts to capture the different cost function as the system operates.

So the most accurate approach would be to take an hour by hour basis and really a 5-minute by 5-minute when generation is dispatched in the system to determine the cost of that dispatch, and then the avoided cost of losses at that time.  How is your system after operating.

The exhibit that you are pointing to is from the IESO and it's avoided costs as it relates to conservation, and it's at least attempting to do a similar breakdown. So it's looking at certain time periods and the supply cost during those time periods, and for different seasons of the year, winter, summer and shoulder.  It also have a separate component for capacity which is, for lack of a better term, the last megawatt cost and it's avoided capacity in terms of the ability to reduce peak, peak demand function.

So this, approach is a better representation compared to the high level, in terms of the supply costs that consumers may pay, and therefore the cost of transmission losses as it relates to losses at the time of this these time periods.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Lusney.  One other comment that was made by Hydro One was that it didn't change the weight or the consideration of transmission losses after the government put out its Conservation First policy.

Can you comment on that, including as it relates to your evidence?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.  So I cannot comment on why Hydro One might have come to the conclusion to not change activities, and therefore I will preface that.

The Conservation First framework really looks at saying big or small, energy efficiency is to the benefit of ratepayers and to the electricity market in general.  And therefore, where prudent and cost effective, efficiency savings should be captured where best possible and in that -- again, for lack of a better term, everyone plays a part.

MR. ELSON:  And in terms of your comment that everybody plays a part, how would you compare Hydro One's response to Conservation First in relation to the electricity sector as a whole?

MR. LUSNEY:  Well, again I can't comment on how they might have come to the decision, and it may have been internally -- and I will give kind of two extremes.  Internally, they could have looked at it and said, you know, we have looked for all these savings opportunities and we have determined that none of them are prudent or cost effective to the multiple objectives they have to meet -- again safety, reliability, cost effectiveness, and efficiency of the transmission system, and that's one extreme.

The other one is that you could have been doing all the analysis and each time, you've come up short and hence why no activities have been done.

MR. ELSON:  And can you compare what Hydro One has done in response versus the electricity sector has a whole?

MR. LUSNEY:  I think when you look at the electricity sector as a whole, and I will come back to regional planning, one is that conservation is considered kind of the first option as a resource.  It's considered as the lowest cost option.

The recently published, on September 1st, 2016, Ontario planning outlook, provided a levellized unit energy cost comparison of resources of which conservation and demand management was the lowest.

The Ontario Energy Board has set targets for local distribution companies or LDCs, distributors through the province in terms of their conservation achievements, and many of them have not only strove -- or invested heavily to meet them, but have, I think, publicly made statements that they are really focussed on it.  And you can see it both in activities for ratepayers and activities at the corporate level.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Lusney, I have no more questions in direct.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Mr. Nettleton, do you have a comment?

MR. NETTLETON:  I do, sir.  My understanding of the Board's practice is that when evidence is filed before the Board, it's intended to be prefiled, and the scope of my cross-examination today was limited to the four corners of Mr. Lusney's report.

You will see in Mr. Lusney's report, his recommendations relate to best practices, and recommendations respecting best practices of Hydro One.

What I just heard now in this direct evidence was Mr. Lusney is now providing opinions with respect to aids to cross that Mr. Elson had included in his cross-examination of Hydro One.  And what I have written down are things like Mr. Lusney indicating that it is a reasonable approach that Mr. Elson has advanced with respect to calculations that Mr. Elson put forward to Hydro One's witnesses.

This is new evidence.  This is now changing this witness' scope of his evidence to being not just about best practices, but about a particular type of methodology used to calculate transmission system losses.

So my estimate, sir, of 30 minutes, was specifically related to the scope of the report.  If we are now going to get into testing new evidence that Mr. Lusney is about the adopt and effectively opine on, I suspect I am going to be much longer.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  Thank you for that notice.  With that, let's take an hour for lunch and we will return at 1:40.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If I can just add that Mr. Lusney has a 2:30 time commitment.  I don't expect that Mr. Nettleton will go longer than that.

I would like to respond when we come back to the suggestion that something untoward has been done here, because that's been put on the record.  But I am happy to leave that for now for a discussion after the break.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Well, it's your witness that has a time constraint, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  It is.

MR. QUESNELLE:   I think Mr. Nettleton is prepared to go forward.  All he was suggesting is he is going to need more time.  He has a break now to take anything new, digest it, and respond accordingly.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, I cannot make a commitment, given what's just happened, that I am going to be within a time frame of 2:30.  That's just news.

MR. QUESNELLE:   We will do what we can.  Let's return at 1:30 rather than at 1:40, okay?  Thank you.  can.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:38 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Elson, you had suggested before the break that you wanted an opportunity to address some issues raised by Mr. Nettleton.  I will give you that, but I'm just mindful that we are prepared to carry on with just taking Mr. Nettleton's comments as being a justification for additional time, if needed.

MR. ELSON:  I agree with that, and with respect to the suggestion that Environment Defence has broken rules or protocols, I don't think it makes sense for me to get into those procedural details in light of the timing except to say that we refute that suggestion and may address it in submissions.

I may be able to make one comment that will actually save some time, which is to say that with respect to the calculation of the total cost of the losses, all we are trying to say is that the annual cost is very high and that that justifies monitoring and reporting on transmission losses with a fairly high degree of rigour.  That's it.  We are not trying to nail down a specific number, so that may clarify the situation somewhat and provide a bit of insight as to what we are trying to establish.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you Mr. Elson.  Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, the source of my confusion, I take it, really relates to Procedural Order No. 4, and it's particularly under page 3 of Procedural Order No. 4, where Environment Defence represented to you, the Board, the scope of their evidence, and the concern that I had this morning was what might be described as a bait and switch, that suddenly we are now looking at something greater than a high-level evidence relating to background information.

It struck me that Mr. Lusney was being asked questions that related to levels of granularity that did relate to specific aspects of Hydro One's transmission system, particularly its procurement policies and the like.

Now, I am prepared to move forward and acknowledge that Mr. Elson appears to be wanting to make argument around the aids to cross that he has put in, but I do feel it's necessary to explore some questions with Mr. Lusney about what he did and about his opinion and the basis of the opinions that he has provided to you.  So I am going to proceed on that basis.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine, Mr. Nettleton, but I recall, and I won't ask it to be pulled up, but the Board has commented on the nature in which we would receive this evidence.  It's not expert evidence, it is -- and I took a lot of the responses Mr. Lusney gave this morning as directional and qualified around the -- not on specific numbers, and I think to Mr. Elson's comments, I think if you want to revisit some of the granularity, fine, but I don't think that we are looking for determinations on the accuracy of the numbers that were used -- understood.

MR. NETTLETON:  No, no.  What I heard -- well, let's just get there, and we will see where we go.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.  Yeah, that's -- I think that's --


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I have greatest difficulty not responding to being accused of orchestrating a bait and switch, but I will not address that now.  I will address it in submissions because the issue has been raised, and obviously I don't object to Mr. Nettleton asking questions further to the comments that Mr. Lusney made this morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think we should move forward.  Thank you very much.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Lusney, if I could have you, sir
-- good afternoon, first of all, good afternoon.  If I could have you first turn to page 19 of your compendium, which I believe is your CV.  Or it's -- yeah, it's the discussion of your curriculum vitae.  You have that there?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I do, thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  So Mr. Lusney, you are a consultant with Power Advisory LLC?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  And on the column under -- on the left-hand side of page 19 it indicates that your professional history is the Ontario Power Authority and Hydro One Limited; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  Ontario Power Authority is correct.  It's Hydro Ottawa Limited.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Hydro Ottawa Limited.  I can't read.

If I take you to page 17, sir, under question 6, the second full paragraph, you provide a little detail about your responsibilities and your history, your employment history; do you see that?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I do.

MR. NETTLETON:  All right.  It says here that you worked as a transmission planner in power system planning at the Ontario Power Authority.  You see that?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Who hired you for that role?

MR. LUSNEY:  The lovely gentleman to your right, Bing Young.

MR. NETTLETON:  And you worked directly under Mr. Young until he left the OPA in 2009; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And how long, sir, were you with the transmission integration group at the OPA?

MR. LUSNEY:  Just over two years.

MR. NETTLETON:  Two years.  And while you were at the OPA, your role changed to the electricity resources group, which dealt with generation procurement; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  So your experience with transmission system planning was obtained while you were with the transmission integration group; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  Direct experience, correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And I didn't see anywhere in your CV that it says that you had worked for the Independent Electric System Operator; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And so you can confirm with me that you do not have any day-to-day experience with the operations of the IESO in terms of how it directs and provides to transmitters directives with respect to the operation of the transmission system in Ontario.

MR. LUSNEY:  Not directly, only as an observer.

MR. NETTLETON:  And when you say "only as an observer" then that includes also your current position as a consultant with Power Advisory; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  You haven't had any engagements with the IESO with -- since joining Power Advisory?

MR. LUSNEY:  No.

MR. NETTLETON:  And I also didn't see anywhere in your CV reference to National Grid.  Correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  You haven't participated, have you, with respect to any procurement program that National Grid has carried out with respect to equipment such as transformers; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  Let's go to page 4 of your evidence, sir.  Under the first -- well, the last bullet point on page 4, you say that:

"Transmission system modelling is an excellent tool to assess loss reduction strategies."

Do you see that?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  I didn't see anywhere in your CV reference to transmission system loss modelling as being something that you have participated in before; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  So my understanding of the undertaking that the Board has asked me to take was to review options for loss reductions, and that included researching into other analysis completed by either other consultants, transmitters, or power system experts, so the evidence that's been provided and the tool is really a representation of that analysis.

MR. NETTLETON:  Can you answer my question, sir?

MR. LUSNEY:  Do you mind asking it again, sorry.

MR. NETTLETON:  I didn't see anywhere in your CV reference to transmission system loss modelling as something that you have expertise in.

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  So help me understand then, sir, how you can say that transmission system modelling is an excellent tool to assess loss reduction strategies.  On what basis do you make that claim?

MR. LUSNEY:  The basis is on the materials that I reviewed, and the conclusions of those materials.


MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, the conclusions that you have made and the materials that you have reviewed are those stated in this document, that being your evidence?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  There is nothing outside of this evidence, correct?


MR. LUSNEY:  No.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  I know you haven't worked for the independent -- well let me ask you this.  I know you answered the question that you haven't worked for the Independent Electric System Operator in Ontario.  Have you worked for any other independent system operator in other jurisdictions?


MR. LUSNEY:  I had a supporting role with the Alberta electricity system operator in the design and support execution of their competitive transmission bid procurement.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, that's interesting.  We will get there.  How recent was that?


MR. LUSNEY:  That was 2000 -- right at the start of my career with Power Advisory.  It was 2010, 2011.


MR. NETTLETON:  And did that include transmission system losses, your advice around that?

MR. LUSNEY:  No, it did not.


MR. NETTLETON:  And in that role then, in capacity, it wasn't with respect to things such as the operation of day-to-day equipment and the operation of the Alberta grid?


MR. LUSNEY:  No, it was not.

MR. NETTLETON:  But you have an understanding, do you, sir, that switching of transmission equipment in the day-to-day operation of system in Ontario is under the supervision of the independent electric system operator?


MR. LUSNEY:  That is my understanding, yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And would you agree that this would include the IESO's supervision over reactive control devices, such as capacitors and reactors?


MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  So it is the case that the Independent Electric System Operator in Ontario has operational direction over voltage levels on the high voltage transmission system, correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  From operation, yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Chairman.  I wonder if you can drop the blinds.  I notice the sun on the witness and there is certainly sun on me.


MR. QUESNELLE:   Certainly, Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.


MR. LUSNEY:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Lusney, I also did not see anywhere in your CV reference to experience in conducting benchmarking studies, correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  In my CV, no.


MR. NETTLETON:  The statements that you have made about benchmarking in your report are entirely related to your review of documentation that is referenced in your report?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  So the recommended best practice that you find, or that you have referenced on page 5, talks about benchmarking the level of transmission losses in a transmission system to other jurisdictions can be helpful.  Do you see that?  It's the last bullet point.

MR. LUSNEY:  Page number, sorry?

MR. NETTLETON:  Page 5 of my compendium, page 5 of your report.


MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.  So benchmarking provides an ability to compare.  It doesn't necessarily provide drivers, but it provides an ability to assess both similarities and differences between different systems.


MR. NETTLETON:  But you have no expertise in benchmarking, correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  No, I do not.

MR. NETTLETON:  Let's talk about Hydro One's additional evidence that it filed as part of Exhibit K2.1, and its compendium page 27.

MR. LUSNEY:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  This is the formula that is found in that evidence that talks about transmission losses being a function of current and resistance.  Do you see that?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you disagree with that?


MR. LUSNEY:  No.  I believe it matches the formula provided in my evidence as well on page 4, and 4 of your...


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you quarrel, Mr. Lusney, with the view that Hydro One has taken that the things that a transmitter can do with respect to that equation is resistance?

MR. LUSNEY:  No, resistance, as I said -- okay.  I will preface it with in Ontario's framework where a transmitter is not the system operator, is the transmission owner and operator, the control, to the extent that they can, is on the resistance side of that equation.


MR. NETTLETON:  Before testifying and preparing your evidence, did you have occasion to review Hydro One's application?

MR. LUSNEY:  I was able to review parts, but I can honestly say I did not review the entire application.


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, let's test what you know.  Do you know that Hydro One has made application for sustainment capital?


MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know how much?


MR. LUSNEY:  No, I do not, off the top of my head.


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know whether the request for sustainment capital is greater or less than it has requested in prior years?

MR. LUSNEY:  My understanding, and to the best of my recollection, is that it is greater than it has in previous years.


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know whether Hydro One's evidence is that it replaces approximately 1 percent, or less than 1 percent historically, its fleet of conductors each year?

MR. LUSNEY:  That I am not sure of.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know whether in this application Hydro One is seeking to increase that need to approximately 1.7 percent?


MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I believe it was mentioned in some of the question responses earlier in this testimony.

MR. NETTLETON:  Now, sir, your CV also mentioned that you are a professional engineer; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.


MR. NETTLETON:  You have training in the electrical engineering field?


MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I do.


MR. NETTLETON:  You have a master's level?


MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I do.


MR. NETTLETON:  As a professional engineer, is it your view that when there is objective evidence that a conductor has reached end of life, it is necessary to replace those conductors?


MR. LUSNEY:  I will preface to my assumption to end of life.  End of life represents either the equipment can no longer achieve the function that it's expected to, or continued operation represents a safety or reliability risk and therefore, yes, it should be replaced or increased maintenance to allow it to achieve its objectives.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, we have had some discussion about the nature of the proposals that you are making regarding the use of supper conductors and also the upsizing of conductors.

What I want to understand, sir, is a couple of things. First, have you had a chance to review Hydro One's application, and the specific circuits that Hydro One is proposing to replace for purposes of the end of life condition that it has determined to be the case in the test years?


MR. LUSNEY:  So back to my earlier comment, the direction that I believe I received from the board was to bring back options for loss reduction along with examples of some practices.

I have not reviewed specific examples of the Hydro One transmission system, or attempted in any way to identify options that would mitigate transmission losses.


MR. NETTLETON:  Fair enough.  And directionally, though, Mr. Lusney, I am interested in your opinion that if your recommendations were accepted, directionally at least, or at a high level, as you say, and super conductors became the norm or upsizing of all replaced conductors became the expectation that this Board imposed on Hydro One, what would you expect the rate impact to be?

MR. LUSNEY:  I think just before I answer, my understanding is, being up here as a consultant, I don't have an opinion as an expert, I only have based on my analysis and what I can put forward.  So the high-level recommendations is more to look at the options as a balance to other investment decisions, some being cost, safety, reliability.

So if the conclusion of the responsible party for determining this that investment and, to your example, superconductors or upsizing conductors, the expectation on cost would hopefully be either cost would be lower than they would if you had taken a different tack, or safety, reliability, and other objectives of the planning process would be met by going down that path.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is it your experience or do you have any experience, Mr. Lusney, with the procurement of conductors?

MR. LUSNEY:  The review of my analysis for this evidence suggested some conclusions from procurement of conductors.

MR. NETTLETON:  And can we agree from that analysis that if you were to upsize conductors you would be paying more money than not?

MR. LUSNEY:  Pay more money in what respect?  A capital outlay or total cost to customer over the time line of the...

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, let's start with the first and we will get to your second point.  But can we agree that the capital cost outlay would be greater?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And are you of the view, sir, that over the length of the life of the asset and depending on the types of inputs and assumptions that you make, that cost may be justified based on a cost/benefit analysis?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yeah.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is that the point you were trying to make?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, do you think ratepayers pay rates based on capital cost fees incurred or do you think they pay based on the output of cost/benefit analysis?

MR. LUSNEY:  They pay on the output of the combination of not just your capital investment and the return on capital and debt obligations of that capital investment, but also on the ongoing and lifetime operation maintenance and administration of those assets which, under my understanding of the regulatory, would be based on prudent cost/benefit analysis to ensure that you are being prudent in your investment.

MR. NETTLETON:  Have you testified, sir, in matters respecting the manner in which rates get calculated before a regulator before?

MR. LUSNEY:  No, I have not.

MR. NETTLETON:  So you don't profess to have rate regulation experience.

MR. LUSNEY:  No, I do not.

MR. NETTLETON:  In fact, the experience that you had that you appeared as an expert in in Alberta related to the development of a special project class that was considered by your client before the Board; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yeah, so what that proceeding was looking at is, there was certain amount of transmission build-out under the uniqueness of the Alberta energy-only market that was being driven for reasons not directly related to, I will call it historical transmission investments, and that they were being driven by government policy as it related to -- and for example, renewable energy, and the concern that we were supporting our client on was that the cost recovery was not going to align with the -- the cost recovery was not going to align with the incentives of customers.

MR. NETTLETON:  Was that evidence accepted by the commission?

MR. LUSNEY:  In terms of -- yes, the evidence was accepted.

MR. NETTLETON:  Your view is that the Alberta Utilities Commission came out and said, "We accept and support the position advanced by the utility consumers advocate"?


MR. LUSNEY:  So accepted, as in we understand the reasoning you are putting forward.  They didn't act on it, if that's what you're getting at.  They went down a different path in terms of their AESO transmission tariff.

MR. NETTLETON:  We will come back to that, sir.  In your evidence, if I can turn you to page 6, sir -- sorry, just before we do -- we are still on page 5, page 5 of my compendium.  It's just the second-last bullet point.  You talk about:

"Another operational change for loss reduction is through the inclusion of the value of loss reduction in the planning process."

You see that?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  What planning process are you talking about?

MR. LUSNEY:  The -- and it isn't clear in the evidence, as you point out, it's the investment planning process of, when do you need to replace equipment or when do you need to expand equipment and what considerations you take in as you're going about deciding either equipment or arrangement of the power system as you build it out.

MR. NETTLETON:  So that's the transmission investment planning process?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And that is a process that you have been involved in?

MR. LUSNEY:  No, I have not.  Other than as a distribution engineer in terms of relations with transmitters planning for a specific region, but not directly.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah, we are talking about transmission planning.

MR. LUSNEY:  Well, for clarity, it was transmission planning for the greater Ottawa area, and I was representing Hydro Ottawa as a capacity planner.  But, no, I think to the point you are trying to make for broader transmission system planning, no, I have not.

MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Lusney, now I can take you to page 6 of your evidence.  And I want to direct your attention to the statement that you have made under the bullet point under "capital investments for loss reduction".  And it's -- then it's the statement found of:

"Limits to reconductoring are primarily due to integration with existing transmission infrastructure, such as the supporting capability of transmission towers and insulators.  If the new transmission conductor is too large for the existing infrastructure, then additional investments are required that can reduce the cost-effectiveness of the reconductoring approach."

Do you see that?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  So do I understand, then, that we are in agreement that if the towers can't withstand an upsize, you've got to take into account the cost of replacing towers?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is that the point?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And have you, sir, ever been involved in a transmission tower replacement exercise?

MR. LUSNEY:  No, I have not.

MR. NETTLETON:  So you are not familiar with the cost associated with the replacement of transmission towers.

MR. LUSNEY:  Again, so to the undertaking that was expected was to look at what are some options, not necessarily to assess whether they are prudent for Hydro One to undertake.

MR. NETTLETON:  Were you asked to consider all options or only viable options?

MR. LUSNEY:  I think that that's kind of difficult to answer, because all options can be viable depending on how broad your criteria are.  In many cases there is very limited applications, I think for reasons that Hydro One has put forward, in terms of the limited nature, and as we talked prior to the break, the limited nature -- or as I brought up prior to the break, the limited nature of being able to act as a primary driver transmission losses during the life of an asset, that it more comes up at the end of life when you are talking about the delta between the investment cost you are going to have to make for end of life versus a possible option to go to a higher size, but has to be balanced on all your other objectives.

MR. NETTLETON:  I want to take you now further on in your compendium, and I want to talk about -- actually, I want to talk about page 6, and again, the concept is capital investments for loss reductions.  And I want you to -- I want to discuss with you another aspect of Hydro One's application that I am hoping you have some understanding of, and that's development capital expenditures.

MR. LUSNEY:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you familiar with that term as it's been used in this application?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  All right.  And just so we are on the same page, you understand that the development capital forecast is one that's derived in part from the regional planning activities of the IESO?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And that would include initiatives that match up with the integrated power system plan?

MR. LUSNEY:  Well, to my understanding at this time, there is not an integrated system power plan that's been approved.

There a Long-Term Energy Plan the government passes, but it is -- I think point you are trying to get at is the regional plan driving to a broader overall power system plan.  So I can agree; I am just putting clarifications on what has been referred to in the past as an IPSP.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you for that clarification. Is it your understanding that the IESO is responsible for the planning of the bulk transmission system?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And at the regional planning level, there is integration that the IESO carries out with Hydro One relating to integration of wires and CDM alternatives?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, including central generation and distributor generation as well.

MR. NETTLETON:  Now have you, yourself, sir, been involved directly in the regional planning process?

MR. LUSNEY:  Not in its current form which was passed, I believe, three years ago.  And by passed, I mean enacted by the Board as part of certain system codes, I believe.

MR. NETTLETON:  I may have misunderstood your comments this is morning to your counsel.  But what I heard was that you understand the independent electric system operator to be responsible for central planning of the transmission system, correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And I also heard you say that the IESO does not have an in-depth knowledge of the transmission system.  Is that correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  Of the equipment in the transmission system, that is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  If it didn't have that type of understanding, how could it carry out its planning role, sir?

MR. LUSNEY:  It works closely with transmitters in terms of requesting certain information from them.  That is my understanding.  And in terms of certain activities that I have been involved in for generation development clients, we have been told that the power system planning group at the independent electricity system operator has to work closely with the transmitter to get certain information, and this relates to -- for clarity, connection capability, and therefore that they are working with the transmitter --and in this case, Hydro One -- to determine the capabilities of the system.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is it your understanding that Hydro One participates actively with the independent electric system operator in their regional planning exercise?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  My understanding, sir, is that your client's position is that more should be done to address transmission losses in the regional planning exercise that's carried out.  Is that fair?

MR. ELSON:  If I could just interject, I don't think Mr. Lusney is in a position to speak to my client's position in this proceeding.  That position will be clear in submissions.

MR. NETTLETON:  I will rephrase the question.  Mr. Lusney, do you think transmission system losses is a matter that's considered in the regional planning process, or with the Independent Electric System Operator's process concerning system planning of the bulk transmission system?

MR. LUSNEY:  I do believe that it is considered.  My only caveat to that is I don't think it's a formalized consideration that's broadly applied.  But I do believe it's considered.

It's part of -- it's an attribute as part of power system planning and I think to the comments that Hydro One has raised, because of their responsibility as system operator and bulk system planner, when they are looking at siting of possible generation procurements or looking at load forecasting and what's needed, they will be taking into account transmission losses.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Mr. Lusney, can I just ask you to consider your last statement.  You said Hydro One in its responsibility; did you mean the IESO?

MR. LUSNEY:  Sorry, yes, IESO.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay, thank you.

MR. LUSNEY:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Your report, sir, talks about information that you have gathered concerning National Grid, and I think this starts at page 12 of your report.

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, were you asked to provide an opinion about whether National Grid represents a best practice, or some gold star to which other jurisdictions should be benchmarked to?

MR. LUSNEY:  No.  My understanding was to provide an example of a methodology on how transmission losses were incorporated into a transmitter's responsibility, whether it's directed to them or taken up themselves.  And in my search for examples, National Grid represented a good option.

MR. NETTLETON:  A good option?

MR. LUSNEY:  The reason being that the approach they've outlined from their special conditions of their transmission licence, along with the strategy document that they put forward, in my understanding could be applicable as an example for Hydro One as a transmission operator and operator only.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Lusney, are you aware -- let me ask you this.  How many transmitters are there in the UK?

MR. LUSNEY:  There is three transmitters in the UK and one system operator.

MR. NETTLETON:  And is the system operator also one of the three transmitters?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And are you aware whether the UK also has transmitters in the offshore?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, there is.

MR. NETTLETON:  How many offshore transmitters are there?

MR. LUSNEY:  That I do not know.

MR. NETTLETON:  Subject to check, thirteen?

MR. LUSNEY:  Sure.  I just know that there are some, but I don't know the number.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Lusney, let's go back to a jurisdiction that is near and dear to my heart, other than Ontario.  Your evidence here today was that you have testified before the Alberta Securities Commission.

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And you actually note at page 11 of your evidence, you make reference to the approach used in Alberta.  It's in the first paragraph -- not the first full paragraph, but the paragraph above it.  Do you see that?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  So you had occasion to look at Alberta as a jurisdiction, for purposes of carrying out your report?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you aware, sir, that the Alberta Electric System Operator is an independent system operator?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you aware, sir, that that means, like in Ontario, the Alberta Electric System Operator is legislatively prohibited from owning transmission facilities?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know whether the IESO has rules to address the collection of transmission system losses?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, and I believe it's referenced in terms of the loss factors in that evidence.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know whether the IESO has tariffs that are used to collect the losses that it has calculated using the loss factors?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes.  To the best of my memory, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And that was one of the issues that was considered in your -- in the application that was one which you testified in, correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, it was.

MR. NETTLETON:  And so loss factors in Alberta are not matters are that carried out by individual transmitters; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  So I am curious, Mr. Lusney, if your exercise was really to go out and find jurisdictions that were similar to Ontario, and you believe that benchmarking should be a task that would be informed by similar jurisdictions, why did you ignore all of these facts from your report as it relates to Alberta?

MR. LUSNEY:  So the, again, the direction was to look at, first, what are options to reduce transmission losses, not make a judgment call on whether they are prudent, and then to provide examples of some transmission loss reduction approaches, not provide a detailed assessment of all -- not -- for short-form, not to perform a benchmarking exercise.

MR. NETTLETON:  I am not asking you to have performed a benchmarking exercise.  I am asking why you didn't write up as one of the points in your report the manner in which Alberta carries out calculations in the management of transmission system losses, given that Alberta has an independent system operator that is independent of transmitters, much like Ontario.

MR. LUSNEY:  My evidence and research was looking for examples of active transmitters that were taking into account transmission losses.  So I didn't write up jurisdictions that were not on the transmitter side.

MR. NETTLETON:  You understand, sir, that in Alberta when new generation is being proposed loss factors may be used as a means to situate new generation in proximity to load.

MR. LUSNEY:  Can I just clarify, situate by whose decision?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, it would be a factor that a generator would take into account.

MR. LUSNEY:  Yes, I agree.

MR. NETTLETON:  That is a cost to the generator, correct, the loss factor?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.  It's -- the generator is going to look -- under Alberta's current energy-only market, which is about to undergo significant changes, and for the Board's -- they are adopting fairly large structural changes to their market design starting at the end of this year and going forward.

But under their old procedure it was, for lack of a better term, a connect and compete approach.  So there was no contracting, there was no central procurement, no integrated resource planning.  There was, to your point -- and I think this is a long winded way of agreeing with the point -- it is the generator that has to look and say, how much revenue can I get, and will I be able to provide the revenue recovery and profit-taking that I need for this facility based on all the other negative consequences of which a loss factor could be considered one, along with fuel supply risk, operation and maintenance risk, and longevity of the equipment.

MR. NETTLETON:  You have also referenced in your evidence NGET and Statnett as examples of other jurisdictions that you have carried out investigation; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  That is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  And NGET and Statnett are both jurisdictions that do not have a separation of independent system operators; correct?

MR. LUSNEY:  Correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is it your evidence, sir, that these jurisdictions are comparable to Ontario?

MR. LUSNEY:  They are in the fact that energy efficiency in Europe is a priority in some senses.  And so -- and they are also large transmitters that can be used as comparison to demonstrate how, at least on my research, you know, how some other jurisdictions consider transmission losses.

MR. NETTLETON:  I couldn't see in your evidence any statement or discussion about how these jurisdictions are comparable to Ontario; fair?

MR. LUSNEY:  Fair.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Nettleton.

Mr. Rubenstein, did you have any questions?  No?  Okay.  I had you listed here, but that's fine.

Any cross-examination, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  I have no questions in redirect, Mr. Chair, but one minor housekeeping matter.  I don't believe that Mr. Nettleton's compendium was marked as an exhibit -- this is the Hydro One compendium -- and so perhaps that could get marked as an exhibit, unless I missed that happening.

MS. LEA:  K12.5.  But, sir the compendium you used earlier today had already been marked as an exhibit when you used it for panel 5?

MR. ELSON:  That's correct, and that was --


MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  -- 5.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.5:  HYDRO ONE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  So K12.5 for the Hydro One compendium.

MR. ELSON:  And that was --


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  -- the compendium that was being referenced in those questions.

MS. LEA:  Yes, that's what I meant, thanks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much, Mr. Lusney.

MR. LUSNEY:  Thank you, and I would like to -- a real -- I greatly appreciate moving and shifting your witness panels around.  It means a lot to me, and I really appreciate it, understanding how complex these proceedings are, so I appreciate it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Nettleton, shall we take up your next panel?

MR. NETTLETON:  Give me ten minutes.  I think they are downstairs, and we will bring them up.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure, okay.  Understood.  Thanks again, Mr...

Why don't we take a break to do that, and we will return at 25 to 3:00.
--- Recess taken at 2:20 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:37 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, please be seated.  Okay, Mr. Nettleton, perhaps you could introduce your next panel?

MR. NETTLETON:  This is it.

MR. QUESNELLE:   This is it, this is the panel we are been waiting for.

MR. NETTLETON:  This the last panel we have been waiting for.  This is panel 9, Mr. Chairman, the load forecasting and rate design panel.

The panel comprises of two witness, Mr. Andre and Mr. Alagheband, and their CVs are set out in Exhibit K1.2.

Mr. Andre has appeared before the Board on three occasions, the most recent being Hydro One's 2015 to 2019 distribution rates application.  He has been with the company since 1986, and has had varying roles and responsibilities within the company.

He is assisted by Mr. Alagheband, and Mr. Alagheband has his witness CV in K1.2 as well.  Mr. Alagheband has been working with Hydro One and Ontario Hydro since 1989, and lectures for the McMaster University master's of finance program, and he currently holds the position of manager of economics and load forecasting at Hydro One.

These two gentlemen are here to speak to the evidence that is found in the application relating to load forecasting and rate design.

I was remiss in mentioning Mr. Andre's position is director of pricing and compliance, and I would ask that the oath be administered to these witnesses and then we will have their evidence adopted.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay, thank you.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - LOAD FORECASTING AND RATE DESIGN PANEL
Henry André

Bijan Alagheband; Affirmed.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you.  I believe both microphones are on, perhaps we can check.  Okay.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  Perfect. Gentlemen, I would ask you to turn up Exhibit K1.1.  Found at page 15 and 16 of that appendix 1 to that exhibit is the witness responsibility chart.  And you will see on the screen, gentlemen, that there is evidence that has been assigned to this, your panel, and I would ask a few questions to have that evidence adopted.

Gentlemen, was this evidence, that's listed on this chart at pages 15 and 16, prepared by you or under your direction and control?  Starting with you, Mr. Andre.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, it was.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, it was.

MR. NETTLETON:  Starting with you, Mr. Andre, do you have any changes or corrections to make to any of that evidence?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I do have one correction that I would like to make on the record.  It's in the interrogatory response Exhibit 1, tab 10, schedule 4, on page 2.  There is a table that shows a number of First Nations communities in the R1 residential class and the R2 residential class, and I would just point out that Rocky Bay First Nations is shown as an R1, when in fact it is in the R2 class.  And similarly, Aroland First Nations which is shown under R2, should be shown as an R1 residential class community.

MS. LEA:  I am sorry, I guess I am looking at the wrong exhibit.  Is there something --


MR. ANDRE:  Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 4.

MR. NETTLETON:  We will just pull that up.

MS. LEA:  Oh, thank you, that would be helpful.  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. ANDRE:  So Rocky Bay First Nations and Aroland First Nations should reverse their positions in that table.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Andre, you may want the move your microphone a little closer just so there is better pick up.

Mr. Alagheband, do you have any changes or corrections to make to your evidence?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, I have.  In interrogatory I, tab 12, schedule 27, there is a table at the end of the page --


MR. NETTLETON:  Just wait for a minute, Mr. Alagheband, and we will pull that up.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Sure, okay.  Yes, the table at the end of page 1.  There is a title there saying EE and it should be EE and C&S.

MR. NETTLETON:  Dare I ask what that stands for?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Sure.  EE is for energy efficiency; C&S is for code and standards.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Gentleman, with those changes is the evidence listed on this chart accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, it is.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, it is.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you therefore adopt your evidence as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, I do.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, this panel is available for cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  I believe, Mr. Janigan, you will be up first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  My name is Michael Janigan, and I am with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.

I would like to start off asking some questions concerning the CDM adjustment for the load forecast.  I have a compendium that's been prepared, and I wonder if I could have that marked as an exhibit, please.

MS. LEA:  Yes, that will be Exhibit K12.6 and I think we have hard copies of your compendium here.  Does the panel have it before you?

MR. QUESNELLE:   I do not believe we do, Ms. Lea, unless --


MS. LEA:  Is that the one dated November 28th, Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  That is correct.  I may have some extras here; I think I do.

MS. LEA:  I am sorry, Mr. Janigan, we don't seem to have multiple copies.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's okay.  I distributed it probably too far in advance.

MR. THIESSEN:  I probably took it home.

MS. LEA:  You are just too prepared, sir.  K12.6, VECC compendium for panel 9.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.6:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR LOAD FORECASTING AND RATE DESIGN PANEL (PANEL 9)


MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:   I try to avoid that over-efficiency thing by just leaving things to the last minute.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up page 4 of my compendium?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And with respect to your load forecast that's set out at Exhibit E1, tab 3, schedule 1, at page 20 here, this table suggests that the models you used to develop the forecast were based on actual data up to 2014, and the 2015 values are a forecast.  Is that correct?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  The models for econometric models, yes, there has been -- the end of historical data was 2014.  This is based on considering that we have from a statistical -- Statistics Canada data that is at that date.

But other ones, like the monthly econometric model end use, they are all up to date.  Actually, monthly econometric was even out to February 2016.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the load forecast you have here of 2015, is that an actual number or is that a forecast number?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  2015 for load forecast is actual number.  The only one that may stand out as a forecast that we have set in some other places is for CDM is a forecast.

MR. JANIGAN:  CDM is a forecast.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Is a projection, yes -- I mean, or a target you may call it, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if I can refer you to page 6 of my compendium, when you have here -- you have set out that the 2015 actual values were used with respect to  using the uncertainty bands for Hydro One's transmission charts determinants, that is the same as what you used in doing the load forecast; is that what you are saying?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And so, now, I understand, if you can turn up page 8 of my compendium, I understand your approach is that you add the impact of CDM from 2006 and subsequent years up to 2015 to the actual load for purposes of developing your load forecast models, and then for the 2017 forecast you subtract the efforts with the effects forecast for 2017 from CDM initiatives undertaken in 2006 through to 2017.  Am I correct on that?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And you have a similar approach taken for 2018.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's on page 10.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And am I correct that for the purpose of this forecast you have only added back in to the actual data the demand savings associated with energy efficiency programs along with codes and standards, and similarly for 2017 and 2018 only subtracted out the forecast savings from energy efficient programs and codes and standards?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that the actual impacts of the demand response programs were neither added back to historical values nor were the forecast impacts for 2017 and 2018 removed.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could turn up page 10 of my compendium, and that's the response to VECC 27(a).  And you have indicated here that the CDM amounts that you have added back in for the years 2006 to 2014 were based on actual CDM savings amounts; is that correct?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, however, in VECC 27(b) you indicate that the energy efficiency values for 2006 to 2012 are taken from OPA's 2011 ISP and that the values for 2013 and beyond are taken from the OPA's 2013 Long-Term Energy Plan; is that correct?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct.  These are the sources that we had for -- and this is the sources that IESO had out there for this forecast.  We are trying to be consistent with IESO.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, but can you clarify me which of the energy efficiency values in 27(b) are actuals that have been verified by the OPA and the IESO and which ones are based on earlier forecasts that you have assumed that the actuals were the same as the forecast?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  All the numbers up to 2014 are considered to be confirmed, and then 2015 to '18 stands as projections.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So up to 2014 are actuals?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  How did -- if you took it from the 2014 -- or 2013 Long-Term Energy Plan, how could you get actuals for 2014?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Okay.  These are the numbers that has been adopted by IESO, so we adopted that.  And then in terms of actuals there has been different evaluations done at different points in time.  I think you are going to refer to some other documents later on, but we get back to that when you get there, but these are the numbers that we adopted for the forecast purpose in March 2016.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in fact, underneath here the IESO assumes that the savings from the energy efficiency programs and the codes and standards programs in 2006 to '14 are the same as forecast in the IPSP and the Long-Term Energy Plan.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  So this is -- it's a forecast at least up to 2014, and are you saying that the 2015 and onward is a forecast as well?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  2015 onward is forecast.  2006 to 2014 is after IESO looked at the results and confirmed that these results looks fine.  There are parts of it that cannot be confirmed, for example code and standards, there is no way to go back and confirm on exact basis that -- how much code and standards are there, but because of the available information that IESO had they consider that to be actual, and they adopted that, and they follow with IESO simply, they simply follow the IESO.

[Reporter appeals.]

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  We adopted the IESO forecast, and as they did, you know, so that's -- it is like a, you know, chain reaction, so IESO says, this is what we believe in right now in March 2016, and we were supposed to be consistent with IESO as usual, and so we adopted that too.

MR. JANIGAN:  So your response, though, in interrogatory 27(a) that on table -- or actual figures, it's not quite correct; is it?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Well, this is after IESO said that they are treating them as actual, these are their actual numbers they are considering.  '15 onward is they consider as a forecast.  As I said, this is something that part of the -- for example, code and standards, as I said, is very difficult to verify.  There are other aspects that were verified, and they said is okay, is considered as actual.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So you -- if the IESO considers it as actuals, you think that they are actuals, even though they are forecast.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  We were supposed to be consistent with IESO, and we did also some other -- let's get back when you get back to the future questions, I have something to say.  But for now, yes, that's my answer.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, you have referenced another document in table 2, and the answer -- or actually, the answer to part (c) that the comparison between the 2013 and the 2013 actual -- 2014 and 2014 actual results in part (c).

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I wonder if you could turn up page 14 of my compendium.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Um-hmm.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in particular, there is a slide, slide 7, which is on page 14 which shows this comparison.  And I note that the footnote to the slide actually says:

"Savings from conservation programs are between 2006 and 2014 including persistence.  Savings from codes and standards are between 2006 and 2013 and assume the same as forecast in the Long-Term Energy Plan.  Forecast new 2014 savings from codes and standards are not included.  Evaluation of savings from codes and standards is underway."

So would you agree that the IESO has only assumed that savings from codes and standards will be the same as forecast?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Presumably, this is the way that they are saying, yes.  This is their answer, yes, they are saying that, so we confirm that, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  The footnote does not say that the actual savings from energy efficiency are assumed to be the same as the forecast, correct?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Indeed, if we look at the results on slide 7, the total energy savings up to 2014 are less than forecast, are they not?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And would you agree with me if the energy -- the megawatt per hour savings are less than the forecast, then the demand megawatt reductions associated with the actual savings are not likely to equal the forecast energy efficiency results for 2014?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Actually, if you look at page 8 of the same report, they also provide comparison of peak.

MR. ANDRE:  Maybe we can bring that up, because it is in our evidence.

MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, that's the one.  I have prepared the answer for that.  The peak results is higher --


MR. NETTLETON:  Just wait.  Sorry.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Oh, you are going to bring that up.

MR. ANDRE:  So we should bring that up.  In what evidence is that chart that you are referring to?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  This is page 8 of the same -- well, it's not in the compendium, it is in the original, yes, filing.  And it's called "LTEP comparison of 2014 forecast versus 2014 actual results" --


MR. ANDRE:  Okay.  So --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  -- published December --


MR. ANDRE:  Right.  So it's in I-12-36.  It's an attachment to I-12-36.  Is that where --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  There was an attachment, but the file was not open in that attachment.  The attachment was provided to VECC so that they can go in and look at the results.  They asked for the results, are there any verified results.  We said yes, and this is the site.  You can go in --


MR. ANDRE:  Well, sorry, I gave you the wrong reference.  Do you know where that chart --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  This is in the same -- in the same -- well, it is not in the electronic version.  But it is same report I think VECC as well aware of because they can opened the --


MR. ANDRE:  So page 13, sir, your page 13?

MR. JANIGAN:  My page 13, yes.

MR. ANDRE:  From what evidence is that pulled?  Is it an interrogatory response?

MR. JANIGAN:  Let me just see here.  This is the -- this is from the tables that actually you provided, I believe.

MR. ANDRE:  But you don't have the evidence?

MR. JANIGAN:  I don't have the whole evidence with me. I only have the --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is not necessary.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Andre, perhaps you could take two seconds.  Just back away from the mics, maybe turn them off and consult, and figure out where this evidence is.

MR. THOMPSON:  This may help.  Mr. Janigan has an index and it says Exhibit E, tab 3, schedule 1, page 10 for the --


MR. ANDRE:  If I could, Mr. Alagheband has clarified that he pulled the previous page from the same report where Mr. Janigan has pulled the chart that he shows on page 14.  He went to the same IESO report and pulled the previous chart that's in that same report, but it is not anywhere in evidence.  So if he is going to -- he can either describe what's on that chart or, if you want, we can enter it into evidence.

But he is referring to a page that's in the public record; this report is in the public record.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, just on page 8, just the next page.

MR. JANIGAN:  I would be happy if you could undertake to produce it.  But you can also indicate what -- in terms of what it tells us with respect to the energy savings and any difference between the 2014 actuals and the 2014 forecast.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Janigan, just through the amazement of internet we have found the report, and perhaps we can just all refer to it as it's appearing on the screen.  And then afterwards, we will undertake to file the full report.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, page 8 of that report.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Page 8, yes.

MR. ANDRE:  There it is.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Oh, this is another one.  If you go back to the peak demand forecast.  So this is energy.  What I have, this page, it could be another.

MR. ANDRE:  It's the same one.  It's just yours is in black and white -- yes, go to page 8.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  I don't have this one.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, might we take --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, it was coloured and I just confused it.

Okay.  As we can see, peak savings turn out to be actually higher by 200-megawatt, and these numbers were both for energy and peak where what IESO believed, based on information that they had by end of 2015.  More recently, there is another outlook, which is the Ontario planning outlook, which came in very recently.  And again in that one, they revised both energy and peak upward.

So I don't -- I already answered your question.  So I don't know if you need this for the reference, or --


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, but what you have got -- you have already indicated your demand response programs are not included in that.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  And we already said that our demand response programs are not included.

MR. JANIGAN:  This is demand response programs that you pointed out.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can I go back to the conservation energy savings?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  That is listed on my page 14, and I assume -- back to my original supposition, you agree that if the energy megawatt per hour savings are less than the forecast, then the demand reductions associated with the actual savings are not likely to equal the forecast energy efficiency and C&S results.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Sir, in that case, I need to refer you to more recent information, which is called Ontario Planning Outlook published by IESO.  And in that one, they revised energy figures quite upward.  I guess now it's about 11 percent or so higher than what was there.  So right now, they have additional 1.3 megawatt hours instead of having 200 gigawatt-hours less.  So we have 1.2 terawatt hours more.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, just with respect to this figure, are these figures not accurate?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  They were perhaps accurate at the time that they were published at December 2015.  This is what IESO believed based on information that they had at that time.  But now they have in almost -- they are published in September of 2016 newly revised numbers.

MR. JANIGAN:  For 2014?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, for 2014.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  And I can give you the exact numbers, if you want.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you can undertake to produce that, please.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Sure, no problem.

MR. JANIGAN:  And does that --


MS. LEA:  Okay, just before we all leap on together, that will be J12.6, thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.6:  TO PRODUCE REVISED ENERGY FIGURES BASED ON THOSE IN THE Ontario Planning Outlook

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I take it that these numbers that you are citing show that the forecast of the Long-Term Energy Plan was accurate with the actuals.  Is that what you are attempting to show me here?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  What we are trying to say is that this is an evolving measurement issue that IESO is dealing with and it could go, as you saw -- in December 2015, it went down.  In September 2016, it went up for the same year.

So this is an evolving issue and the idea is that, you know, what can we do about that?  You know, we have to have a kind of cutoff point.  We made the forecast in March 2016 and when we made that forecast, we also were conscious of the fact that certain figures may change over the course of the future.  They could be revised back; given the history, it could be revised back.  And we were having this issue from the beginning of CDM programs, that is why we developed a method which would be robust relative to -- concerning the CDM measurement issues.

So and that is already -- the graph that you had in your compendium could actually help.  If you want, I can elaborate on that point, how robust is our forecasting methodology.

If you go to page 10 of your compendium, please?

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  As you can see, there is a graph there that reflects how we add something to the actual the make it consistent with history that we had, because history before 2005 was all net of CDM already, it was all -- there was no CDM at that point.

So we want to have a history -- a series, that would be consistent with the historical views that we had, so that we can connect them, and we can relate them to a common factor, such as GDP, such as energy prices and so on.

So given that fact, we have to correct for the impact of CDM, and to do that, we take the, you know, the estimate of history or whatever you may call it or target of the CDM, we add it to our history, we make from a projection.  So if you go back from point C, which was the historical number for 2015, say, we go to point B, to make it consistent with the historical figures.  From point B, we forecast forward, we get to point D, and then we deduct back this projected CDM in the future.  We get back to point E, and point E represents what our revenue would be based on.

So that is what we are actually interested to forecast at the end then, is the point E.  And now in terms of robustness of that, I actually I need -- there is no blackboard here, so I cannot elaborate on a blackboard for you.  But I am going to rely on your imagination power, that suppose this CDM numbers for suppose all of it there were 10 percent lower.  So now you can imagine point B would be lower on this graph.

And then point B, when we forecast, point D becomes lower and when we deduct -- we deduct less than before.  We deduct from the new point D, and we end up landing on point E again.  So if you did some simulation --


MR. JANIGAN:  I understand how the model works.  The problem is looking at whether or not you are using actual or forecast.

Now, I think -- if we are going back to page 10, I think we established early on that these are forecasts that were done either from the integrated power system plan and the OPA's Long-Term Energy Plan.  And you have assumed, because the IESO uses them, uses these forecasts and assumes that they are the same as the savings that you would be required to use them as well.  I recall that was your evidence.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Actually, this is our methodology.  We need to be consistent with the IESO period.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ANDRE:  So -- and sorry, Mr. Janigan, if I could just add --


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.

MR. ANDRE:  -- the explanation that Mr. Alagheband just went through --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  -- makes it clear that what is important is the difference between the incremental CDM between 2015 and 2018, because as he said, if you started with a lower number in 2015, that same lower number would get deducted in 2018, so it almost makes the starting point not material.  It's the incremental CDM that happens between '15 and '18 that will drive any changes to the load forecast.  I think that's the point that Mr. Alagheband was trying to make.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That's right.

MR. JANIGAN:  But if you are using forecast models and attempting to have them confirm to what's actually occurring, you have to be consistent, I would assume, in what you are using.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Exactly.  But what is happening here, if you'd -- just demonstrated that our forecast methodology is robust in relation to CDM assumptions.  If we assume less or more at the end we end up being at the same -- we end up being more or less at point E, which is what we are interested to forecast and what our revenue is based on.  Point D doesn't matter where it would be.  Point B doesn't matter where it would be.  It's point E which matters for transmission revenue, and that point is no matter what CDM assumption is made within certain limits would be stable, would be -- is robust in respect to CDM assumptions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  We will leave that effect on the model part for argument.  But I would like to have you turn to page 18 of my compendium.  And here the LRAM calculations determine that the actual 2014 demand savings from the energy efficiency programs are less than the forecast.  409 megawatts is the actual average annual savings and the -- versus the forecast value of 542 megawatts.

So you would agree that the actual savings here are not the same as the forecast.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  This component of -- for the CDM variance account is -- only refers to energy efficiency related to CDM -- LDC CDM programs, it's not the total.  It doesn't relate to persistent of the future programs into that, it doesn't relate to code and standards.  We have a combined number of energy efficiency and code and standards, which we are using for the forecast purpose, and this is what we called actual for up to 2014.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But -- sorry --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  So this number is different, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Go ahead, sorry.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yeah, this number is different.  This only refers to LDC programs.  It doesn't show code and standards.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But it's -- energy efficiency programs were forecast to be 542 megawatts and saving and the actuals were 409; is that correct?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That part was the forecast that was made prior to LTEP.  This is the forecast that was made in 2012 for years '13 and '14.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, it says down below here that it's based on the IESO's final verified 2011 to 2014 CDM report --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  CDM report, yes, but these are the source that we checked for that, but the forecast comes from earlier, it doesn't come from LTEP.  The forecast comes from earlier predictions -- earlier targets at that time, and those targets are different from the present targets that we are using.

MR. JANIGAN:  Where is the prediction then from?  Who gave the prediction?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  The predictions are provided in the response.  This was what was available at that time.  I guess it would refer to IPSP 2 something, IPSP --


MR. JANIGAN:  Why would it be earlier?  Why would there be an earlier forecast?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  At that time there was no -- LTEP was produced in 2013 --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  -- and this forecast was made in 2012, so it had to be based on something earlier.  Prior to that was IPSP.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah, actually, it's 2011 to 2014.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Um-hmm.

MR. JANIGAN:  So that wasn't based on the forecast from LTEP?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  No, LTEP didn't exist at that time.

MR. JANIGAN:  It didn't make a forecast for 2014?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  LTEP was not making a -- LTEP was produced in 2013 --


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  -- and was -- the forecast that be made and we based our views on, our CDM projections on, was made in an earlier version of OPA programs, which is different.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, going forward in your next application are you going to continue to assume that the actual CDM savings are equal to those in the 2013 LTEP forecast when preparing future load forecasts?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  There are other things going on, sir, I know in 2017.  I think there would be some consultation done.  Perhaps there would be some changes going back for years after 2020.

So the present program, for example the present LTEP, assumes LDC programs continuing between 2015 to 2020, which is a six-year program, six-year target, and after that they need a new program, and that one would be some -- their consultation would start in 2017 about that matter.

MR. ANDRE:  And I would add, the methodology of remaining consistent with what the IESO is forecasting, that won't change.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That won't change, no, we cannot do anything -- we are not in the position to evaluate or to set a target for CDM.  We have no other choice.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up page 20 of my compendium.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Page 20.

MR. JANIGAN:  And this is a response to the London Property Management Association Interrogatory 47, part (c).

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Page 20, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay?  And here you were asked to indicate what the CDM variance account for 2015 would have been if the LDC CDM and demand response variance account had been in place, and your answer was the 2015 actual peak savings results were not available.  Is that correct?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  We talked to IESO about that, and they said that going forward they are not going to measure the peak -- to evaluate the peak targets for LDC programs for the simple reason that there is no peak target, there is only an energy target, and that energy target doesn't have a predetermined schedule, as long as you are from 2015 to 2020, they do something to achieve that energy target, it would be fine.  LDCs for themselves on individual basis may set a target for themselves to achieve in terms of planning purpose, for their own planning purposes, but this is not something that we would be aware of.  And IESO is not going to make any call on what would have been the actual results on achieving peak targets for LDC programs, because there isn't such.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And this is what you told me on page 22 of the compendium there, where we asked that the 2015 results were expected, and you indicated that the IESO was only reporting energy and not demand savings for 2015; is that correct?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  It's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And can you confirm to me that the IESO produced the 2015 verified results report for Hydro One Distribution in June of this year?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  It did.  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And can you confirm to me that the report included -- and I am looking here on page 24 of my compendium and 25 -- this is the report, is it not?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, I know, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And can you confirm to me that the report included overall provincial results, as well as results for Hydro One Distribution?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, it did.

MR. JANIGAN:  And can you confirm to me that this report does include verified demand savings for the province which we have copied on page 25?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  There is a difference.  The difference is that they measure what LDCs set for their ongoing programs, for the new programs, starting in 2015.  They reported that they -- we want to achieve this, and the IESO goes and verifies that results, is it above that or below that.

That is for new programs.  It doesn't include the impact of previous programs prior to 2015 which, on the basis of persistence, continues into '15, '16, and going forward.

So there is no verification of the total CDM impact that we used for LDC programs, including the impact of programs prior to 2015 to be done by IESO.  IESO only verifies what LDC says for same year that they start a new program.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  You're saying that these verified results were only for new programs that were introduced in 2015?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Exactly, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And with respect to interrogatory 47, which looked at or asked you for the results associated with CDM in 2015 --


MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, Mr. Janigan, you said 47?

MR. JANIGAN:  Page 20 of my compendium, 47 being the interrogatory.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And it indicates there is an answer here that the -- or a question:  Please provide the actual CDM in 2015 and the most recent estimate of the CDM projected for 2016.

You are telling me that this schedule does not help you to do that?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So you are still unable to the answer the question associated with part (b) of that interrogatory?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Or part (c)?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, that's right, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up page 29 of my compendium?  And here is a response to VECC interrogatory 33, where VECC asked about the forecast and actual electricity prices used in your annual econometric model.  And you stated that the residential and commercial electricity forecasts are from the 2013 Long-Term Energy Plan, but the industrial price forecast is from the National Energy Board.

Can you tell us when the National Energy Board forecast was prepared and where it can be found?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  I understand that this National Energy Board should be corrected to NRCan, Natural Resource Canada, not NEB.  Sorry about this.

MR. JANIGAN:  And when was that prepared?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Well, that one was again a kind of --what do you call it?  The forecast that we used was based on what we found in LTEP and national -- and NRCan forecasts.  And they don't actually indicate precisely what is, where the actual ends and where the forecast starts.  So that was a problem that we had with understanding these things and we couldn't figure out.

But for 2012 and '15, we had our own method of measuring the actual, so we were not worried about that.  We were sure that these both plans were produced prior to 2015, so whatever they say from '16 onward, that has to be forecast.  So we use those forecasts to go forward.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, let me just unpack that a bit.  The NRCan forecast that you used for the industrial sector, when was that prepared?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  They were all in one file and they were showing starting from -- the way I recall it, it was starting from 2012 that they were started showing the numbers going forward.

So my assumption was that perhaps '12 is actual or '13 -- who knows.  But we already had the actuals, so we didn't have to worry about that, only for forecast period.

MR. JANIGAN:  Did you use the NRCan forecast and what date was it prepared?  What date was the forecast that you used?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  We went to the site in March -- perhaps earlier, February 2016.

MR. JANIGAN:  February 2016, you went to the site.  Do you know what the date was of the forecast that appeared on the site in February 2016?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  It didn't, it didn't, and it looked like a plan to me.  It didn't look like the kind of -- you know, saying that these are the actual numbers, these are going forward or forecast.  It looked like plan assumptions.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, perhaps we could help Mr. Janigan by taking an undertaking and finding out exactly the date of the file that --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  The problem is we cannot even find the document any more.  I went back again; they removed that from the site.  But I think it was updated somehow and that is the issue that we have now, that I don't believe -- I don't know what they did with that.  We'll dig in more, but if we can provide it, we'll provide it.  Don't worry about it.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Mr. Janigan, is it important to you to understand the context in which it was -- in which the information was used in the preparation of the evidence, or is that clear to you?

MR. JANIGAN:  It's not, actually.  But if you can use your best efforts to find it, that would be sufficient for me.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  No problem.

MR. ANDRE:  We can do that.

MS. LEA:  J12.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.7:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE THE SOURCE FOR THE FORECAST FOR THE INDUSTRIAL SECTOR

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in response in part (b) of this interrogatory, you indicate that actual annual electricity prices for 2012 to 2015 were used, and they were provided in Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 1, which appears on page 27 of my compendium.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  However, on page 31 of our compendium, when we asked you to compare the actual electric prices for 2012 to 2015 with the forecast prices in the 2013 Long-Term Energy Plan, you state that the actual prices for 2015 to -- 2012 to 2015 are not publicly available.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That's correct.  The two questions were a little different.  One is what we used, what actuals we used in the model.  Those actuals were calculated by Hydro One, and they were called actuals because they were based on some other -- some related few was based on actual.  Like you know that electricity has a kind of very diverse product structure.  We have on-peak price, off-peak price.  We have distribution charges, we have transmission charges, we have all kinds of charges.

 So that there isn't -- if we go to regarding the other question, as the question was as if this an actual price, as if we go on Google saying to Statistics Canada what is the actual price of electricity, nothing shows up.

So what we did, for the other actual that we use in the forecast, is basically we based that on available information, available actual information, and then we somewhat constructed an index that would represent electricity costs in general, so something like CPI.  But there is -- CPI doesn't refer to the price of anything; it is the price of a basket of things.  So this is what we did.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Let me try to at least get the nomenclature down correctly.

Now, when I refer to actual prices, these are the actual prices that are charged.  You have a different definition of actual prices, as I understand it, where you constructed a model and the model has produced the results on page 27.  Is that correct?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  It is -- statistically, we can pull it -- we can express it that way.  What we used -- as I mentioned, there is no actual price for electricity.  But we needed to have a single price representing what happens in the electricity market in terms of evolution of prices over time.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That one was based on using actual figures.  For example, we used the prices that are on OEB site for low consumption and high consumption, given that there is a threshold there.  And we have a consistent series of that and based on that, we calculated some actual numbers and then we used that to correlate it with total electricity price, and on that a basis we can -- again, on an actual basis, actual totals with actuals of the commodity price, we compared those things and from that we derived what would be the actual price between '12 and '13.  And that is what we -- how we produced that index.

Prior to '13, actually we had a long history of this price.  We had, in Ontario Hydro, there was a kind of annual forecast of these prices going on.  After the break-up, we had information from, you know, Global Insight.  That service was discontinued in '12, and from there on we do it that way.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Can you undertake to provide me with a description of how you arrived at these energy prices with what you used, first of all, as a base and how you altered that base to arrive at these numbers?  Is that possible?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  I can do that, or I can actually answer the question here.  I --


MR. JANIGAN:  I would -- I would prefer an undertaking, because it's very hard to follow.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yeah, okay.  Okay.

MR. ANDRE:  And the numbers that you are looking to describe are --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  For electricity --


MR. ANDRE:  -- the prices that show on page --


MR. JANIGAN:  27.

MR. ANDRE:  -- 27.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now --


MS. LEA:  J12.8 for that undertaking.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.8:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE DERIVATION OF ENERGY PRICES, INCLUDING THE BASE AND ITS ALTERATION TO CALCULATE THE PRICES

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, do you have some confidence that these prices are -- reflect actual energy prices?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  We looked at the results in many ways to validate that this index that we produced works.  One is usually validation in terms of economic analysis, does it have correct sign.  Of course, electricity price should have negative sign, which means that if price goes up demand reduces, and it had the negative sign.

Then we look at the residuals to see if there is anything disturbing in the residuals, and residuals turn out to be fine, and that residuals were already examined by Energy Probe.  They looked at the residuals, and we had no problem on that issue.

So whatever -- if we were missing something, this would have showed up in residuals, but nothing showed up there.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Why was it that -- if you have some confidence with respect to these figures, why was it that you could not compare the actual electricity prices that you evolved here with the prices, the forecast prices, in the 2013 Long-Term Energy Plan?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Actually, I have no problem providing that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  I just misunderstood the question.  I thought that I have to go to a StatsCan site and Google what's electricity price, and that's what I did, and nothing showed up.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if I could have that as an undertaking as well, please.

MS. LEA:  Is that acceptable?  Yes?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  J12.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.9:  TO COMPARE THE ACTUAL ELECTRICITY PRICES THAT YOU EVOLVED HERE WITH THE FORECAST PRICES IN THE 2013 LONG-TERM ENERGY PLAN.

MR. ANDRE:  Bijan, are you clear on the question?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes, yes.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, what was the basis for the forecast for electricity prices for 2016, 2017, and 2018 that's set out on page 27?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That was -- as mentioned earlier, it was based on the LTEP and NRCan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And -- but that's a different model than you used for the rest of the page 27?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  We are -- you know, we are trying to incorporate actual figures as much as possible into our model.  So up to '15 we could go on our own and have a realistic actual index, you may call it, which is what we produce are indices, for electricity price by sector.  And after that, we said that, let's be consistent with LTEP, you know, so we went with that and other available information.

MR. JANIGAN:  So up to 2015 you used the model that you have described to us to get the values, and after 2015 you used the LTEP and NRCan figures?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  I mean, I used the growth rate of that applied to our base.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  So that is again difference, was our electricity prices are indices, they are not cents per kilowatt-hour.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, the LTEP was prepared three years ago.  Was it not possible that the forecast could be updated?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  At this point we don't have any updated forecast for electricity price.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Do you have any plans to update the electricity price forecast used in future load forecasts?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  No problem -- yes, of course, if we have -- there is a need for that we do it, yes.

MR. ANDRE:  Well, and the update would always reflect the actual data, as Mr. Alagheband has said now, it reflects the actual up to '15 and then applies the growth rates from LTEP and NRCan to forecast forward.  In future we would update for the latest actuals up to that point in time.

MR. JANIGAN:  But as we have seen, the LTEP is -- LTEP numbers are also forecast.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  LTEP numbers are forecast, but this is is actually -- we take it granted, you know, that they had the resources to do that.  We are not in the position to saying that we have to second-guess that one -- say that?

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  In the words of the late Martin Luther King, free at last, free at last, thank God almighty I am free at last.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

MR. NETTLETON:  Speak for yourself, Mr. Janigan.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Just confirming, Mr. Ferguson, you don't have any questions for this panel?

MR. FERGUSON:  That's correct, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  I do, and I hope to be under 15 minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Good afternoon, panel.  Shelly Grice representing AMPCO.  I just have a couple questions regarding Hydro One's weather correction methodology.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  So if we can please go to Exhibit E1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 13.  So I just want to confirm, first of all, that Hydro One Transmission's load forecasting methodology --


MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, Ms. Grice --


MS. GRICE:  Sorry.

MR. ANDRE:  -- just give us a second to --


MS. GRICE:  I'm sorry.

MR. ANDRE:  -- get there.

MS. GRICE:  Sure.

MR. ANDRE:  Page?  Which page of --


MS. GRICE:  Page 13.

MR. ANDRE:  All right, we are there.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I just want to confirm first of all that Hydro One Transmission's load forecasting methodology includes a weather correction methodology that's based on the use of 31 years of weather data to define normal weather conditions.  If you can just confirm that for me, please.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  And then if you look down at line 8 on page 13, your evidence is that for the purposes of settlement only in Hydro One's last transmission rate submission, EB-2014-0140, Hydro One agreed to use the mid-point between its conventional weather-normal forecast -- which we just confirmed is 31 years -- and an alternative forecast based on a 20-year temperature trend.

However, as shown in figures 3 and 4 of this exhibit, your evidence is that this 20-year trend has been broken since 2014, as the actual figures fall significantly below the normal line.

So if we just look at figure 3, for 2014 and 2015 the data points are below the average 31-year temperature of 27.4 degrees.  Is that what that is intended to mean?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  The average 27.4 is actually the average temperature between 1953 to 2015.  If you look at the whatever we do with the collection, we use the last 31 years.  For the last 31 years the average temperature falls very close to line above that, which is the 28 degrees, and as you can see, of course, in both cases the actuals for '14 and '15 fall below either of those two lines.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And the reason why you are taking the position that the trend is broken is because the 20-year trend line should continue somewhat above the 27.4 degrees for that trend line to continue.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So if we can now please turn to Undertaking TCJ1.14.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  We are there.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  So in this interrogatory AMPCO asked if you could please update Figure 3 to include 2016 data.  And the interrogatory response provides an updated graph as of September 30th, 2016.

And so my question is, based on the discussion we just had, the data points are now above the average 27.4-degree line, and I would like to suggest to you that the 20-year trend is not broken, that the data is showing a continued upward sloping trend reflecting warmer temperatures over the past 20 years, and in fact the data is now -- is consistent with the 20-year trend.  Would you agree with that?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  I have two -- two-parts answer to that question.  First is that the 2016 data is actually very close to our -- that 28, a little above that, but very close to that one, and it is far below the trend that you see in the prior years for the high, high of the temperature.  As you can see, between 1999 -- or about 2000 going up to 2010, we had an upward -- higher highs and higher lows.  If you look at the graph, both higher highs and higher lows.  And after that, we have lower lows and lower highs.  So the next new high that we got in 2016 was far below what we had in 2012.  So that we can say that, you know, there is -- or 2011 actually.


So what we can say is that -- and that in terms of to say technical analysis of this graph, it shows that it is not upward anymore, the trend is not upward.  And actually, if you look at the last few years, the trend is going back to be more moderate; it's actually downward because we have to capture the lower highs and lower lows.

Now, the other part of the question is can we actually find a trend that would be significant in this series.  And the answer was, you know, that we provided an answer.  This question was asked.  I believe it was in VECC -- let me find the interrogatory that VECC asked if the trend is significant -- and it wasn't.  It was in one of these -- it was not statistically significant.

MR. ANDRE:  Was it this one?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, so Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 42, and we talked about --


MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Significance of the trend, and it wasn't significant, a statistically not significant trend.  And we also measured what would have been the implications if we implemented trend, and we found out that figures are very, very small.  It is in the order of --


MR. ANDRE:  .02, .03?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  .03 percent, which is very -- is less than .1 percent, you know.

MS. GRICE:  Would we be able to get the forecast for 2017 and 28, based on a twenty-year temperature trend?  Would you be able to provide that?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  We already did.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's the response, Ms. Grice, in Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 42.  He did the analysis based on the 20-year trend and determined that the impact on the load forecast and revenue and revenue deficiency was in the order of .02, .03.

MS. GRICE:  Okay I was more looking to have your table 1 updated in your evidence, A1, tab 3, schedule 1, where you provide your load forecast.  I understand you have given that response in terms of percentages.  But would you be able to give the actual load forecast numbers based on a 20-year trend?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  We can provide that one.  We can also provide an alternative way of doing the thing, which I believe is more relevant for this area.  That alternative is that so far we are assuming that the model is not picking up any trend in energy, whereas our models actually -- I went through the models and actually -- well, let's put it this way.

Suppose you have two alternatives, two alternate Ontario.  In one of them, there is no, say, global warming and then there is the other one that there is.  So in the one that there is, we are supposed -- energy grows a little higher than the other one.  So suppose here it is increasing at .5 percent, and here it is increasing at .6 percent.  Supposing both worlds, you would have the Ontario GDP growing at 1 percent.

So when we calculate the elasticity, here in this world we are calculating for the one that doesn't have global warming.  We are saying that it's .5 divided by one, so the elasticity is .5.

In the other one with global warming, it would be .6 divided by one, which is .6.

Now in the forecast period. of course we are using -- in this world when we do a forecast, we apply the elasticity of .5.  In the other one, we apply the elasticity of .6.  We end up having a higher forecast going forward automatically because of the change in our elasticities.

So I went through our models to see if this is a fair statement to make.  I noticed that in some of the equations, we have weather directly coming into the equation and when we forecast forward, we apply normalized value to that.

So then we were using a 31-year average, now instead of using -- so your question comes here.  If instead of using a 31-year average for the forecast period in those models, if you go forward, what happens if instead of 31 years, we apply the trend.  And I did that, and actually the result is that actually the load reduces by a very insignificant amount, by 2-megawatt in 2017 and 3-megawatt in 2018.

So actually -- and the reason for that is very clear. We are not just a summer-peaking industry; we are both summer and winter-peaking.  Rising temperatures means that our winter load is going down, whereas summer peak may be going up, and there are more winter months compared to summer months.  I mean, air-conditioning starts perhaps somewhere around late May to September.  Other months are all heating, and we are losing in those months.  So the impact is negative.

So I can provide two forecasts for you, if you want.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, sure.  That would be great, thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you for volunteering to do that, that will be J12.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.9:  TO PROVIDE TWO FORECASTS SHOWING actual load forecast numbers based on a 20-year trend

MS. GRICE:  Just in the second one that you were explaining here, if in your response you could further explain what that represents, that would be helpful.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Sure.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  And those are my questions, thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Mr. Rubenstein, you just got yours in.  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Anything from Staff?

MS. LEA:  No, thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MR. THOMPSON:  I am sure this is in the record somewhere, but just to help me, in terms of the actual load transmitted in 2015, is that somewhere in the evidence?  Is that a number that you can give me?

MR. ANDRE:  Mr. Thompson, did you say in 2015?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  So Mr. Alagheband's evidence in Exhibit E1, tab 3, schedule 1, the actual load in the form of the Ontario demand and the charge determinants, the three charge determinants that drive the UTR, uniform transmission rates, those are the values that you see in that table.  So table 3 of E1, tab 3, schedule 1, the 2015 values are the actual loads.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's compared to numbers that were approved in the 2014 case for '15 and '16, is that right?

MR. ANDRE:  No.  So the comparison to what was approved, that is provided in an interrogatory response.  And if I could, I will take you to that.

So the comparison to what was approved in the prior submissions is provided in the interrogatory response to Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 44.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.  And then if we move to 2017, I have it in my mind the number is declining from actual in -- sorry, do we have actual for 2016, or actual plus estimated somewhere?

MR. ANDRE:  Actual for 2016?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  No, we don't have that yet.  We do have the forecast, what was forecast and is built into the rates established for '16.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then as we move to '17, I have it in my mind that the number for -- the forecast number for 2017 is declining from 2016.  Is that right?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, it's declining relative to what was approved for 2016.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the reason for that is what?

MR. ANDRE:  The forecast that was done for 2016 was done in 2014, and it assumed -- and it was actually based on April 2014 data, and it assumed a certain growth in 2015 and 2016.  It assumed the economy would pick up.  It didn't anticipate the slump in oil prices, the weaker Canadian dollar, so it is just -- the forecast that was done in '16 where you are now seeing the drop off to '17, that '16 forecast was done in '14 and had a very generous assumption on how the economy would develop, and that did not turn out to develop.

And I would add one other thing, actually.  That forecast for 2016 also included a .5 percent increase in what we had originally forecast to accommodate the 20-year trend that was part of the settlement, and again, that .5, you know, that 20-year trend increase of .5 percent also did not materialize, so that is why you are seeing a high '16 number that now when you true it up to '17 is why you are seeing the drop-off.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then as we move from '17 to '18 on a forecast basis, I have it in my mind the evidence is that that is flat; is that right?

MR. ANDRE:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then do we have where we are headed in '19, '20, and '21?  And I ask that because we have got the spending numbers that go out that far, capital spending and so on.  Do we have load forecasts that take us beyond 2018?

MR. ANDRE:  I mean, it's beyond the test years of this application, but I would imagine that for business planning purposes we would have produced a forecast.  I don't know if it's at the charge determinant level.  It might be just at the system peak level.  But for business planning purposes we would have forecast something, although it is outside the test years, and we are not asking for approval of that load forecast at this time.  It may yet change.

MR. THOMPSON:  I appreciate that.  But generally speaking, can you give me the trend?  Does it remain flat, does it decline, or is there an increase?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  It depends on each year, and it depends on interplay between CDM assumptions between the embedded generation and the gross load.  Some years I remember they were actually negative, some years positive, but overall I believe it would be more flat.

MR. ANDRE:  Certainly you don't see anything like the 2 percent type impact.  It will all be in the -- less than half a percent range?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Um-hmm, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So flat is generally the picture --


MR. ANDRE:  At this point in time.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  At this point, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Chair, just a clarification question arising out of Mr. Thompson's question.  I think it was indicated the 2015 number here was an actual.  Actually, that's a forecast, is it not?

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  The '15 is actual.

MR. JANIGAN:  But it's based on a forecast from LTEP, right?  Isn't that what you've told me earlier on Table 3.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  The actual actual that you see here is the actual, the one at the bottom of the table.  Then we want to gross it up to become before deduction, deducting the CDM and embedded generation.  The one in the first line of the table, those are actually based on best estimate -- best thing that IESO considers to be actual, and so we consider it actual.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  It's considered actual by -- that's what you mean by that.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  That is what we best describe.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Yeah, yeah, it's a forecast by LTEP.

MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, just to clarify, the load forecast after deducting embedded generation, so the bottom four set of numbers, which is the actual charge determinants that are used to establish uniform transmission rates --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  -- those numbers are actuals for 2015.  There is no forecast element.  Mr. Alagheband was saying was if you go to the top line --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  -- that that's where you need to include the CDM.  But the actual numbers in that bottom set of four for 2015 are actual.

MR. JANIGAN:  Oh, okay.  Thank you.

MR. ALAGHEBAND:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Any more questions coming from the questions?  No?  Okay.  Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  I have no questions, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, panel, for your testimony this afternoon.
Procedural Matters:


We will be hearing, Mr. Ferguson, from your witness on Friday morning.  Just to remind people, we mentioned the other day that we will be shifting hearing rooms, but only dealing with the Anwaatin evidence and any cross-examination that comes from that on Friday morning, and we will start at nine o'clock, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I do have an update regarding the number of undertakings that have been given, particularly those that the recalled policy panel provided to you and to others.  The initial indication was that many of the questions and undertakings were going to require a significant amount of work effort.  That is in fact the case.


At this stage we are internally working towards a December 23rd filing date, for obvious reasons.  But I think there is a realistic risk that not all of the undertakings will be given by then.  We are certainly endeavouring to do that, but I think we are next week going to be hitting the holiday season, and we are starting to lose people, and these are factors that will obviously have to be taken into account.

So I know that the hearing schedule has been held in abeyance, but I just did want to let you know that that's sort of the update on the timing.  We shouldn't be expecting anything being completed certainly this week, and we are hoping and doing our best to make that next week.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, Mr. Nettleton.  Why don't we take stock of that again on Friday and not concern ourselves with attempting to set a submission schedule until we are clear as to how that might unfold, okay?

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:53 p.m.
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